# DRIVER INFORMATION SYSTEMS FOR HIGHWAY -RAILWAY GRADE CROSSINGS







#### Final Report

### DRIVER INFORMATION SYSTEMS FOR HIGHMAY-RAILMAY GRADE CROSSINGS

TO:	J.F.	McLaughlin, Director	July 7, 1971		
	Joint	Highway Research Project	File No.: 8-5-12		
FROM:	H. L. Joint	Michael, Associate Director Highway Research Project	Project No.: C-36-59L		

The attached Final Report "Driver Information Systems for Highway-Railway Grade Crossings" is submitted as fulfillment of the objectives of the Flan of Study titled "An Evaluation of Safety at Highway-Railway Grade Crossings" approved by the Advisory Board on May 27, 1970. The report has been authored and the research performed by Mr. Thomas Urbanik, II, Graduate Assistant in Research on our staff, under the direction of Professor K. W. Heathington.

Four objectives of the research were met and the results reported. Driver attitude concerning the hazard at railroad grade crossings, citizen appraisal of priorities for improving grade crossing safety, driver evaluation of possible warning systems for crossings, and the development of the general design of a proposed new advance warning system are presented.

The report is presented to the Board for action. Comments on the report would be appreciated and any application of the results by the ISHC or other agencies would be especially appreciated.

Respectfully submitted,

Hander 2 mentel

Harold L. Michael Associate Director

HLM:ms

- cc: F. L. Ashbaucher W. L. Dolch
  - W. H. Goetz
  - W. L. Grecco
  - M. J. Gutzwiller
  - G. K. Hallock
  - r. w. Wattock

M. E. Harr R. H. Harrell M. L. Hayas E. M. Mikhail R. D. Miles J. W. Miller

- C. F. Scholer
- M. B. Scott
- W. T. Spencer
- N. W. Steinkamp
- H. R. J. Walsh
- K. B. Woods
- E. J. Yoder

Digitized by the Internet Archive in 2011 with funding from LYRASIS members and Sloan Foundation; Indiana Department of Transportation

http://www.archive.org/details/driverinformatio00urba

# Final Report

# DRIVER INFORMATION SYSTEMS FOR HICHWAY-RAILWAY GRADE CROSSINGS

by

Thomas Urbanik, II Graduate Assistant in Research

Joint Highway Research Project

File: 8-5-12 Project: C-35-59L

Purdue University Lafayette, Indiana July 7, 1971

#### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This research was aided by many persons, but it is impossible to give them all the thanks they deserve in this short space. Therefore, the author first wishes to express his appreciation to those who gave assistance to this project, but are not specifically acknowledged.

This research was the result of the guidance of major professor Dr. Kenneth W. Heathington. Assistance was also provided by Professor Harold L. Michael, Associate Director of the Joint Highway Research Project, and Professor I. W. Burr of the Mathematics Department.

My wife Cynthia, who coded data, proofread all material, and provided continual assistance and support throughout this entire project, deserves much credit for the completion of this project.

The author is appreciative of the financial support of the Joint Highway Research Project of the Indiana State Highway Cormission and Purdue University. In addition, the following ISHC personnel provided assistance for this research: F. S. Hill, Deputy Chief Highway Engineer; M. L. Hayes, Assistant Chief Engineer of Technical Services; C. A. Venable, Chief of the Division of Traffic; G. C. Reyman, Assistant Chief of the Division of Traffic; H. R. J. Walsh, Director of Research and Training Center; C. R. Starnes, Personnel Safety Director; and A. Della Penna, Engineer of Railroads.

iii

The following organizations provided the necessary respondents without whom this research would not be possible: State Farm Insurance Company, Lions Club of Lafayette, Purdue University students, Tippecanoe School Corporation, Lafayette Army Reserve Unit, and Central Catholic High School.

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

LIST OF TABLES
LIST OF FIGURES
ABSTRACT
CHAPTER I. INTRODUCTION
Previous Research
CHAPTER II. RELATED RESEARCH
Changeable Message Signs
CHAPTER III. DESIGN OF RESEARCH
Questionnaire Design
CHAPTER IV. AN ANALYSIS OF DRIVER ATTITUDES TOWARDS SEVERAL HIGHWAY HAZARDS
Methods of Evaluation
CHAPTER V. PRIORITIES FOR ALLOCATING HIGHWAY TAXES
Driver Preferences for Highway Improvements

	Page
CHAPTER VI. AN EVALUATION OF SEVERAL WARNING SYSTEMS FOR	52
HIGHWAI-MAILWAI GRADE CROSSINGS	26
A Relative Scaling of Warning Systems	53
A Relative Scaling by Subgroups of Warning Systems	56
An Absolute Scaling of Warning Systems	59
An Absolute Scaling by Subgroups of Warning Systems	63
Summary	63
CHAPTER VII. AN EVALUATION OF ALTERNATIVE DISPLAYS FOR USE IN	67
ADVANCE WARNING SYSTEMS FOR HIGHWAY-RAILWAY GRADE CROSSINGS .	67
A Relative Scaling for Alternative Displays When a Hazard	
Exists	68
A Relative Scaling by Subgroups for Displays When a Hazard	00
Exists	71
An Absolute Scaling for Alternative Displays When a Hazard	
Exists	74
An Absolute Scaling by Subgroups for Displays When a Hazard	
Exists	78
A Relative Scaling for Alternative Displays When No Hazard	
Exists	82
A Relative Scaling by Subgroups for Displays When No Hazard	
Exists	86
An Absolute Scaling for Alternative Displays When No Hazard	
Exists	89
An Absolute Scaling by Subgroups for Displays When No Hazard	
Exists	91
Summary	91
CHAPTER VIII. TYPICAL INSTALLATIONS OF AN ADVANCE WARNING SYSTEM	
FOR HICHWAY-RAILWAY GRADE CROSSINGS	96
	0.0
Equipment	96
Sign Location and Letter Size	98
Control Logic	100
Location Selection	102
Cost Estimates	106
U.S. 20 and C & O Railroad Crossing	107
U.S. 31 and N & W Railroad Crossing	111
Possible Benefits	115
Summary	116
CHAPTER IX. CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS	117
	117
Conclusions	110
Recommendations for further Research	118

vi

BIBLIOGRAPHY		. <b></b>	• • • •	•	••	•••	•	•	•	•	•	120
APPENDICES												
Appendix A. Appendix B.	Questionnaire Psychological	Scaling	Methods	•	•••	•••	•	•	•	•	•	125 136

# LIST OF TABLES

Table 1.	Characteristics of Participants	Page 20
2.	Least Squares Fit of P' versus P'' by Categories of Subgroups for the Evaluation of Six Highway Hazards	35
3.	The Mean, Standard Deviation, and Distribution of Responses for the Rating Scale for the Evaluation of Highway Hazards	38
4.	Absolute Scales by Categories of Subgroups for the Evaluation of Highway Hazards	39
5.	Contingency Tests by Subgroups for the Evaluation of Six Highway Hazards	41
6.	The Mean, Standard Deviation, and Distribution of Responses for the Rating Scale for the Alternative Highway Improvements	45
7.	Contingency Tests by Subgroups for the Alternative Highway Improvements	48
8.	Absolute Scales Values by Subgroups for the Alternative Highway Improvements	49
9.	Least Squares Fit of P' versus P" by Categories of Subgroups for Warning Systems for Highway-Railway Grade Crossings	60
10.	The Mean, Standard Deviation, and Distribution of Responses for the Evaluation of Warning Systems for Highway-Railway Grade Crossings	62
11.	Absolute Scales by Subgroups for Warning Systems for Highway-Railway Grade Crossings	64
12.	Contingency Tests by Subgroups for Warning Systems for Highway-Railway Grade Crossings	66

Table		Page
13.	Least Squares Fit of P' versus P" by Categories of	
	Subgroups for Advance Warning Systems When a Hazard Exists at a Highway-Railway Grade Crossing	75
14.	The Mean, Standard Deviation, and Distribution of Responses for Displays When a Hazard Exists	77
15.	Absolute Scales by Subgroups for Displays for Advance Warning Systems When a Hazard Exists at a Highway-Railway Grade Crossing	79
16.	Contingency Tests by Subgroups for Displays for Advance Warning Systems When a Hazard Exists at a Highway-Railway Grade Crossing	81
17.	Least Squares Fit of $P'_{ij}$ versus $P''_{ij}$ by Categories of	
	Subgroups for Displays for Advance Warning Systems When No Hazard Exists at a Highway-Railway Grade Crossing	88
18.	The Mean, Standard Deviation, and Distribution of Responses for Alternative Displays for Advance Warning Systems When No Hazard Exists at a Highway-Railway Grade Crossing	90
19.	Absolute Scales by Subgroups for Displays for Advance Warning Systems When No Hazard Exists at a Highway-Railway Grade Crossing	92
20.	Contingency Tests by Subgroups for Displays for Advance Warning Systems When No Hazard Exists at a Highway-Railway Grade Crossing	94
21.	Deceleration Distance Required for Various Approach Speeds	99
22.	General Characteristics of Pilot Locations	105
23.	Accident Experience at Pilot Locations	105
24.	Cost Estimate for an Advance Warning System at the U.S. 20 and C & O Railroad Crossing	112
25.	Cost Estimate for an Advance Warning System at the U.S. 31 and N & W Railroad Crossing	114
Append Table	ix	
в1.	Observed Proportions (P') for the Six Highway Hazards	142

B2. Observed Proportions (P') for Warning Systems . . . . 143

Appendix

Table		Page
ВЗ.	Observed Proportions (P'i) for Displays for Advance	-
	Warning System When a Hazard Exists at a Highway-Railway Grade Crossing	144
B4.	Observed Proportions (P'i) for Displays for Advance	
	Warning System When No Hazard Exists at a Highway-Railway Grade Crossing	145
В5.	Scale Calculations for the Six Highway Hazards	<b>1</b> 46
в6.	Scale Calculations for Warning Systems	147
B7.	Scale Calculations for Displays for Advance Warning System When a Hazard Exists at a Highway-Railway Grade Crossing .	<b>1</b> 43
В8.	Scale Calculations for Displays for Advance Warning System When No Hazard Exists at a Highway-Railway Grade Crossing	149
В9.	Calculated Proportions (P_{ij}'') for the Six Highway Hazards .	150
в10.	Calculated Proportions (P") for Warning Systems	151
B11.	Calculated Proportions (P") for Displays for Advance	
	Warning System When a Hazard Exists at a Highway-Railway Grade Crossing	152
B12.	Calculated Proportions $(P''_{ij})$ for Displays for Advance	
	Warning Systems When No Hazard Exists at a Highway-Railway Grade Crossing	153

x

# LIST OF FIGURES

.

Figure 1	Photographs of Siv Highway Hagards as Viewed by the	Page
± •	Respondents	25
2.	An Example of the Paired Comparison Presentation	27
3.	An Example of the Paired Comparison Answer Form	27
4.	A Relative Scale for Six Highway Hazards	29
5.	Calculated versus Observed Proportions for Six Highway Hazards	31
6.	Relative Scales by Subgroups for the Six Highway Hazards .	33
7.	An Example of the Rating Scale Presentation	36
8.	An Example of the Rating Scale Answer Form	36
9.	An Example of the Rating Scale Format	43
10.	Photographs of the Warning Systems for Highway-Railway Grade Crossings	54
11.	A Relative Scaling of Warning Systems for Highway-Railway Grade Crossings	55
12.	Calculated versus Observed Proportions for Warning Systems for Highway-Railway Grade Crossings	57
13.	Relative Scales by Subgroups for Warning Systems for Highway-Railway Grade Crossings	58
14.	An Example of a Rating Scale for Warning Systems for Highway-Railway Grade Crossings	59
15.	Displays for Advance Warning Systems When a Hazard Exists at Highway-Railway Grade Crossings	69
16.	A Relative Scale for Alternative Displays for Advance Warning Systems When a Hazard Exists at a Highway-Railway Grade Crossing	70

Figure

17.	Calculated versus Observed Proportions for Displays for Advance Warning Systems When a Hazard Exists at a Highway- Railway Grade Crossing	72
18.	Relative Scales by Subgroups for Alternative Displays for Advance Warning Systems When a Hazard Exists at a Highway- Railway Grade Crossing	73
19.	An Example of the Rating Scale Presentation for Alterna- tive Displays for Advance Warning Systems for Highway- Railway Grade Crossings	76
20.	Displays for Advance Warning Systems When No Hazard Exists at a Highway-Railway Grade Crossing	83
21.	A Relative Scaling for Alternative Displays for Advance Warning Systems When No Hazard Exists at a Highway-Railway Grade Crossing	84

Page

22.	Calculated versus Observed Proportions for Displays for	
	Advance Warning Systems When No Hazard Exists at a	
	Highway-Railway Grade Crossing	85
23.	Relative Scales by Subgroups for Displays for Advance	
	Grade Crossing	87

24.	Location Map of	Crossings Sele	cted for	Installat	ion of an	
	Advance Warning	System	• • • •	• • • • •		104
25.	Geometrics and A	Advance Warning	System I	Location f	For U.S. 20	

	and C & O Railroad	Crossing		* * * *	108
26.	Geometrics and Adva	nce Warning System	Location for	U.S. 31	

						U (												
and	Ν	£ı	$\mathbf{W}$	Railroad	Grade	Crossing	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	1	.13

xii

Grade Crossing . . . . .

#### ABSTRACT

Urbanik, Thomas, II. M.S.C.E., Purdue University, June 1971. Driver Information Systems for Highway-Railway Grade Crossings. Major Professor: Dr. Kenneth W. Heathington.

The reduction in accidents at highway-railway grade crossings is a desirable objective. To fulfill this objective past research was examined and a new direction was taken relative to improving safety at highway-railway grade crossings. This new direction was to improve the warning systems at individual crossings rather than an examination of priorities for improvement of railroad crossings or an examination of the effectiveness of present warning systems.

The research utilizes an attitudinal survey in order to meet four broad objectives. These objectives were an evaluation of driver attitudes concerning the hazards at railroad grade crossings, an evaluation of priorities for improving safety at railroad grade crossings, an evaluation of warning systems for railroad grade crossings, and the development of a typical design for a new advance warning system.

The research indicates that the respondents considered railroad grade crossings more hazardous than several other highway hazards. However, all hazards were, at most, only considered moderately hazardous by the respondents. The improvement of safety at railroad grade crossings was given high priority by the respondents. An

#### xiii

overhead changeable message sign was the most preferred method of warning at railroad grade crossings. It was concluded that a field installation is desirable. CHAPTER I. INTRODUCTION

Highway-railway grade crossings constitute a hazard to the highway traveler. In the United States in 1969 there were 3,774 grade crossing accidents involving pedestrians, automobiles, trucks, buses, motorcycles, and other miscellaneous vehicles (11). These grade crossing accidents resulted in 1,490 fatalities and 3,669 personal injuries. Railroad grade crossings account for only 0.1 percent of the total accidents in the United States (26). However, these accidents are very severe. The severity is indicated by the fact that railroad crossings account for an average of 2.5 percent of the total automobile accident fatalities in the United States (26).

Of the 3,774 crossing accidents in 1969, 3,572 involved collisions between railroad movements and motor vehicles. These 3,572 accidents resulted in 1,381 deaths and 3,578 injuries. In two-thirds of these 3,572 accidents, trains struck motor vehicles. The remaining one-third of these accidents involved motor vehicles striking the sides of trains (11).

Protected crossings, those having gates, trainmen, watchmen, or audible and/or visual signals, account for approximately 22 percent of the 211,993 highway railway grade crossings in the United States. Protected crossings, however, account for approximately 42 percent of the 3,572 motor vehicle accidents at grade crossings (11). Although

other factors such as train and motor vehicle volumes are involved, it would appear that present protective devices are less effective than would be desirable.

The grade clossing problem is even more serious in Indiana. In the period 1965 to 1968, railroad grade crossings in Indiana were 0.4 percent (0.1 for U.S.) of the total accidents, and were 6.0 percent (2.5 for U.S.) of the total fatalities (11). Indiana consistently has a large number of railroad crossing accidents.

It is worthwhile to look at rural grade crossing accidents. The higher operating speeds at rural crossings are reflected in accident severity. During the period 1966 to 1968, rural Indiana railroad crossing accidents averaged 31 percent of the total grade crossing accidents. However, fatalities average 56 percent of the total fatalities (19). Thus it would seem that rural grade crossing accidents, at least in Indiana, are more severe than urban grade crossing accidents.

It should also be noted that although all grade crossings average one traffic accident every 22 years, some grade crossings have a number of accidents every year. For example, one crossing on U.S. 52 in Indiana has had at least one fatality and four total accidents each of the last three years (19). These accidents occur despite automatic protection in the form of flashing lights. It becomes evident that present protection systems, short of complete grade separation, are at best only partially successful.

#### Previous Research

The focus in the past concerning railroad grade crossing problems has been primarily on hazard index formulas and accident prediction equations. The purpose of these formulas and equations has been to determine the priorities for the improvement of protection at specific grade crossings. The reason that priorities are needed is that there are numerous grade crossings that could be improved, the cost of improvement such as flashing lights and gates is large, and the amount of money available is limited.

Indications are that current techniques for computing the relative hazard index are reliable. Bezkovavainy (6) applied eleven hazard index formulas to 180 railroad grade crossings and concluded that each formula gave basically the same relative priority for improvement of the crossings. In addition, Schultz (23) has developed models to predict the relative hazard for rural grade crossings in Indiana and Berg (5) developed similar models for urban areas.

Other significant research can be categorized as before and after studies. Voorhees (26) concluded that the results of numerous before and after studies indicate general agreement concerning the relative effectiveness of present protection devices in reducing the hazard at a railroad grade crossing. Automatic gates are considered to be the most effective protection followed in order by flashing lights, wigwags, and crossbucks.

Although complete grade separation is one solution to reducing grade crossing accidents, grade separations require substantial resources. There is a large cost differential between a grade

separation and present automatic protection systems. Flashing lights with gates cost approximately \$25,000 for installation. The cost of a grade separation ranges from \$300,000 for a two-lane rural location to more than \$800,000 for a four-lane urban location (26). Therefore situations exist that could justify more effective protection at a cost less than that of complete grade separation.

### Development of Objectives

It would seem that future research efforts might be more appropriately directed toward improving safety measures at individual crossings, especially in rural areas. An area that has received little attention in the past is that of basic information supplied to the motorist. The standard flashing lights are located adjacent to the roadway and tracks. Besides constituting a hazard because of its location, its adequacy for providing sufficient advance warning is questionable. Studies in human factors (3) also indicate that the distinctive round shape of the present advanced warning sign cannot be discerned before the message.

New technology in electronics permits better information to be furnished to the driver. Signs that can display several different messages outside the vehicle are available and it is possible to provide audible signals or messages and/or visual signals or messages within the vehicle.

Considering the desirability of reducing accidents at railroad grade crossings and the capabilities of modern electronics, four broad objectives were developed for this research. The objectives of this research were:

 evaluate driver attitudes concerning the grade crossing hazard,

2. evaluate driver priorities for improving the safety at grade crossings relative to other highway improvements,

3. propose and evaluate new advance warning systems for railroad grade crossings, and

4. develop a typical design for a new advance warning system for railroad grade crossing protection.

To meet these objectives, 259 drivers were surveyed. Based on the results of the driver survey, a specific system for railroad grade crossing protection was designed.

#### Areas of Research

In Chapter II a review of literature concerning driver information systems is made. The purpose of this review is to provide the background to this study and to show the capabilities of modern driver communication systems. Those aspects of previous research that are pertinent to an advance warning system at railroad grade crossings are indicated.

Chapter III reports on the general details of the design of the research. The design of the questionnaire and its pretesting are discussed. The method of selecting the sample along with the social and driving characteristics of the respondents are reported.

Chapters IV, V, VI, and VII cover the analysis of the questionnaire. The evaluation includes driver attitudes concerning the hazard at grade crossings, an evaluation of driver priorities for grade crossing improvement, an evaluation of alternative advance warning

systems, and an evaluation of the specific displays to be used.

Finally, Chapter VIII details the design of an advance warning system for railroad grade crossings in Indiana. Included in the design are a detailing of the equipment, an estimation of costs, and an estimation of possible benefits.

This research explores new concepts in the design of a driver information system for highway railway grade crossings. The final test of this research is the field evaluation of the concepts developed and tested. CHAPTER II. RELATED RESEARCH

As the task of driving has become more complex, interest has increased in driver information systems. Basic static signs (i.e., signs that always display the same message) are not desirable in many driving situations. Some agencies have begun using changeable message signs (18). Changeable message signs are signs that can display two or more alternative legends. Examples include variable speed signs, warning signs for bad weather or accidents, and signs used to give freeway conditions or information on alternate routes. As the electronic capabilities continue to be developed and perfected, these signs should find increasing usage in many different situations. Review of previous research into driver information systems utilizing advanced electronic capabilities has provided the basis of this research concerning an advance warning system for railroad grade crossings.

## Changeable Message Signs

The Chicago Area Expressway Surveillance Project has conducted research on the provision of real time information on the operation of the westbound Eisenhower Expressway and its entrance ramps (18). Electronic signs are operated in conjunction with expressway ramp control provided by the Chicago Area Expressway Surveillance Project. Using electronic surveillance of the number and location of vehicles on the expressway, the number of vehicles entering the expressway at each

entrance ramp is controlled in order to optimize the performance of the expressway. In conjunction with the ramp metering, changeable electronic signs are used to alert drivers to the traffic conditions at the various ramps and merge areas. These signs, through color coding, help the driver to determine whether he should use the expressway or the arterial street system for his trip.

## In-Car Devices for Driver Information

There have been experiments using radio transmissions to provide drivers information on traffic conditions (7, 8, 12). The type of radio transmission most applicable to this research is based on the induction loop principle. The induction loop principle simply uses a buried cable near the roadway as a means of transmitting a radio signal over short distances. This short range results in a minimum of interference with regular radio stations. The induction loop broadcasts can be received on regular car radios or special receivers.

A radio communications system has been developed by General Motors (12). The system is called DAIR--Driver Aid, Information and Routing. This particular system has two-way communication while other systems use a simpler one-way communication. Information can be transmitted from a central communications center or from roadside transmitters. The DAIR system is very sophisticated compared to other systems in that many options are available. The DAIR system informs the driver of speed and traffic signs, allows him to summon help in an emergency, and provides automatic routing for his trip.

A subsystem of the DAIR system is the simple roadside communication link. Using an induction loop, preprogrammed messages are given

concerning traffic conditions, regulatory signs, and warning signs. This subsystem is the basis of most other radio communication systems. The Georgia Institute of Technology tested such a system along a tenmile section of the Kentucky Turnpike (7, 8). Acceptance by the user of the system was good.

Another type of in-car device uses visual messages. These devices also use short-range roadside communications. An Experimental Route Guidance System (24) called ERGS was developed by General Motors for the Federal Highway Administration. This system utilizes a dashboard visual display to give routing directions to a driver for a prespecified destination. When the driver enters his vehicle, he dials the code number of his destination into his ERGS console. As the driver approaches an intersection, the dashboard display gives the necessary information concerning which lane to use and when and where to turn. Since the system is destination rather than route oriented, driver errors are easily corrected. If a driver misses a turn, he is simply given directions on how to reach his destination from the next intersection.

An improvement over the dashboard display is the head-up display (4). The head-up display is a technique developed as a pilot landing aid. This concept utilizes a virtual image superimposed upon the real world. That is, it is possible to display words and/or symbols such that a driver can read the message and still be watching the road. This system was designed as an extension of the ERGS system. It has the advantage of not distracting the driver or blocking his vision. It also has a set of 16 basic directional symbols developed by the Federal Highway Administration for route guidance.

#### Real Time Information Systems

Several recent projects have been concerned with real time information for drivers. Heathington (14) used an attitudinal survey to evaluate driver attitudes towards a Freeway Driver Information System (FDIS). The research included an evaluation of the willingness of Chicago area drivers to pay for an information system on Chicago expressways, an evaluation of the likelihood of diversion to alternative routes when given specific information on freeway conditions, and an evaluation of the specific messages to be used for three levels of congestion. The transportation improvement considered most important by the Chicago drivers surveyed was the improvement of the riding surface on expressways. More important, the provision of electronic signs giving information on traffic conditions rated second. This indicates the importance that Chicago drivers placed on real time information. With regards to the specific sign messages on the FDIS, the respondents indicated a preference for traffic information over non-traffic information at all levels of congestion. Therefore, even if no congestion exists, the drivers desired to be told that no congestion exists rather than be told nothing.

Hoff (17) looked at alternative methods of communicating with drivers. The purpose of his research was to look at different traffic information techniques which might be used to divert drivers around congested areas of the highway system. A questionnaire was developed to determine the preference of drivers for six alternative methods of communication. The ordered preference of Chicago drivers for methods of receiving information concerning freeway conditions was as follows:

- 1. changeable message sign,
- 2. symbolic map with arrows and streets,
- 3. symbolic map with arrows,
- 4. commercial radio,
- 5. roadside radio, and
- 6. experience.

Dudek and Jones (10) also evaluated real time visual displays for urban freeways. This research was directed toward the development of functional requirements for a real time freeway communication system for urban areas. The researchers felt that it was essential that the motoring public play a major role in establishing the functional requirements of the system, since the system must fulfill their needs. Their research was directed toward evaluating driver attitudes concerning the need for real time information, the potential use and response to real time information, driver preferences for mode of communication, the type of information desired, the priorities for the location of information, and driver comprehension of and preferences for visual displays. This work was patterned after the work of Heathington (14) and Hoff (17). The surveyed Texas drivers were given three alternatives for real time information. The three alternatives were (1) real time information, (2) additional guide signs, and (3) other (to be filled in by the respondent). The results indicate a preference for real time information over additional guide signs. Only a small number of respondents filled in an alternative type of system. Their findings also indicated that Texas drivers preferred simple descriptive and color-coded displays over more complicated displays involving diagrams.

Dudek and Cummings (9) also evaluated alternative information systems. The main objective of this study was to investigate the application of commercial radio to freeway communication. As a part of this study alternative modes of communicating with drivers were evaluated using an attitudinal questionnaire. This survey of Texas drivers indicated the following order of preference for urban freeway information:

- 1. radio,
- 2. signs,
  - 3. television, and
  - 4. telephone.

They concluded, however, that no appreciable differences existed between the radio and sign modes. For all practical purposes, the radio and sign modes of furnishing freeway information were considered equal.

#### Summary

This previous research concerning driver information systems indicates that improved driver communication is desired by drivers. A logical extension of this previous research would be the application of the technology developed to other traffic situations. One extension of this previous research is the evaluation of advanced warning systems for railroad grade crossing protection. The ERGS (24) type system could be used to give drivers visual information inside vehicles concerning the hazard at railroad crossings and other highway hazards. A roadside radio communication system (12) could also be used to provide audio warning messages at railroad crossings and other highway hazards. Finally, a changeable message advance warning sign could be used to provide advance warning at highway-railway grade crossings.

CHAPTER III. DESIGN OF RESEARCH

The research method selected for evaluation of specific concepts of advance warning systems for highway-railway grade crossings was an attitudinal survey of drivers. This is not the only method of research that could have been used for the evaluation. The more commonly used method in traffic engineering involves field testing. One can construct a system and then evaluate various aspects through alteration of the system over a period of time. This is an expensive procedure and often does not permit sufficient variation in system design for proper evaluation.

Using an attitudinal survey, one can evaluate several alternatives more quickly and at a much lower cost than through actual field construction. This type of attitudinal research is not intended to replace final field evaluation of any system. The purpose of the attitudinal research is simply to aid in the planning and design of the best possible warning system as quickly, as efficiently, and as economically as possible.

In order to meet the objectives of this research, two psychological scaling techniques (13) were selected for obtaining driver attitudes. The method of paired comparisons was selected for its ability to establish a relative ranking of several highway hazards, alternative methods of warning, and alternative messages for warning

systems. A rating scale was also used to establish an absolute scale for several highway hazards, alternative methods of warning, alternative messages for warning systems, and for several alternative highway improvements. These two techniques have been used extensively in the area of transportation research by General Motors (2), Heathington (14), Hoff (17), and MacGillivray (20). The theoretical basis of these psychological scaling techniques will not be discussed in detail, but the interested reader is referred to a brief explanation of these techniques in Appendix B and to the works listed in the bibliography.

#### Questionnaire Design

The first objective of this research was to evaluate driver attitudes concerning the hazards at railroad grade crossings. It was decided that driver attitudes concerning grade crossings could best be evaluated relative to other similar highway hazards. Five other hazards were selected for evaluation along with grade crossings. Four of these hazards were different types of intersections and the fifth was a highway curve. The differences between intersections were in types of control. A signalized, a stop controlled, a yield controlled, and an uncontrolled (crossroad) intersection were the types of intersections used in the survey.

Questions A and B of the attitudinal survey (see Appendix A) concerned the evaluation of the six highway hazards. Question A used the method of paired comparisons to provide a relative ranking of the hazards. Question B used a rating scale to determine an absolute scale for the six highway hazards.

The second objective of this research was to evaluate the economic priorities for improving railroad grade crossings relative to eight other highway improvements of approximately the same cost. In Question C of the attitudinal survey, the 259 respondents evaluated each of the nine alternatives using a rating scale.

The third objective of this research was to evaluate new advance warning systems for highway-railway grade crossings. The first phase of this part of the research was to arbitrarily select and evaluate suitable advance warning systems. The three new systems were a changeable message advance warning sign, an in-car visual display, and an in-car audio message. The changeable message sign was an overhead sign that would have different displays depending on the conditions. The in-car devices were patterned after the ERGS (24) and DAIR systems (12). In addition, two present warning systems were included in the analysis to provide a comparison between present and proposed systems. The two present systems were the active type of protection represented by automatic flashing lights and the passive type warning sign. Questions D and E of the attitudinal survey were used to evaluate the relative and absolute acceptability of the five methods of warning. Question D used the method of paired comparisons to evaluate the relative acceptability and Question E used a rating scale to evaluate the absolute acceptability of the warning systems.

The second phase of the analysis of advance warning systems for highway-railway grade crossings concerned the displays that could be used to warn drivers. Five alternative displays were evaluated for each of two different situations. The first condition occurs when a

train is near a crossing and a driver needs to stop. The other condition occurs when there is no train near the crossing. Questions F, G, H, and I of the attitudinal survey were used to evaluate displays for both conditions. Questions F and H used the method of paired comparisons to evaluate the relative acceptability of the alternative displays for each condition. Questions G and I used a rating scale to determine the absolute acceptability of alternative displays.

The final question of the attitudinal survey was used to determine the social and driving characteristics of the respondents. Characteristics that were asked included sex, age, education, and miles driven per year.

The final objective of this research could not be met until the first three objectives were completed. The results of the attitudinal survey were used to design and evaluate the cost of an advance warning system for highway-railway grade crossings at selected locations in Indiana.

## The Pretest

The actual design and pretesting of a questionnaire is one of the more crucial phases in attitudinal surveys. Too often a poorly designed survey instrument comes to light only after the data has been collected and the analysis begun. Pretesting is a means to locate problems in questionnaire design prior to data collection. Regardless of the experience of the person designing the questionnaire, improvements will usually be necessary as a result of the pretest.

The first pretest of this attitudinal survey was conducted on twelve graduate students in a Systems Analysis class at Purdue

University. The persons involved represented several disciplines. The students did not know that the questionnaire was being pretested. Two changes were made as a result of the critical evaluation of the respondents after completion of the questionnaire.

After the necessary changes were made, a second pretest was conducted at the Purdue Student Chapter of the Institute of Traffic Engineers. The revision was administered to ten members unfamiliar with the study. The respondents did not know the questionnaire was being pretested. This presentation proceeded without any problems. It was concluded that no further changes in the questionnaire were necessary or desirable.

#### The Participants

The next phase of the research was data collection. Ideally, a systematic random sample would be drawn from the population of Indiana drivers. An alternative approach was necessary due to resource limitations. The method of data collection chosen was to administer the questionnaire to groups from various segments of the driving population.

The groups chosen for administration of the questionnaire were:

1. The Lions Club of Lafayette

2. Clerical employees of State Farm Insurance Company (nonautomobile divisions)

3. The Lafayette Army Reserve Unit

4. A Purdue University undergraduate class

5. Central Catholic High School students (Lafayette)

6. Wainwright High School students (Tippecanoe County)

7. Southwestern High School students (Tippecanoe County)

Table 1 shows some characteristics of the 259 respondents. The important aspect to note is that a large range of social and driving characteristics are represented in the sample. Approximately 81 percent of the respondents were males and 19 percent were females. Approximately one-third of the respondents were under age 20, approximately one-third were age 20.to 29, and approximately one-third were over age 29. Respondents without a high school diploma represented approximately one-third of the total respondents, and high school and college graduates each represented approximately one-third of the total number of respondents. Approximately 50 percent of the respondents drove less than 10,000 miles per year and approximately 50 percent drove more than 10,000 miles per year. It can be seen that a wide range of social and driving characteristics are represented by the 259 respondents.
# TABLE 1. CHARACTERISTICS OF PARTICIPANTS

## PARTICIPANTS BY SEX

Sex	Number	Percent
Male	209	80.7
Female	50	19.3
	259	100.0

# PARTICIPANTS BY AGE

Age	Number	Percent
Under 20	94	36.3
20-24	59	22.8
25-29	26	10.0
30-34	6	2.3
35-39	11	4.3
40-49	28	10.8
50-59	19	7.4
60-69	13	5.0
70 or more	3	1.1
		and the second second
	259	100.0

# PARTICIPANTS BY EDUCATIONAL LEVEL

	Education	Number	Percent
1-8 years	of grade school	2	0.8
1-3 years	of high school	86	33.2
Graduated	from high school	32	12.4
1-2 years	of college or trade-school	51	19.7
Graduated	from college	47	18.1
Completed	graduate degree	41	15.8
		259	100.0

# TABLE 1, cont.

PARTICIPANTS BY MILES DRIVEN PER YEAR

Miles	Number	Percent
Under 5000	66	25.5
5000 <b>-</b> 7500	34	13.1
7500-10000	32	12.4
10000-12500	44	17.0
12500-15000	33	12.7
Over 15000	50	19.3
	259	100.0

# PARTICIPANTS BY INCOME LEVEL

Income Level	Number	Percent
Under 2500	7	2.7
2500-5000	20	7.7
5000-7500	16	6.2
7500-10000	21	8.1
10000-12500	17	6.6
12500-15000	23	8.9
15000-17500	15	5.8
17500-20000	17	6.6
Over 20000	29	11.2
Not asked*	90	34.7
Refused	4	1.5
	259	100.0

\*High school and college students not asked.

# CHAPTER IV. AN ANALYSIS OF DRIVER ATTITUDES TOWARDS SEVERAL HIGHWAY HAZARDS

The first objective of this research was to evaluate driver attitudes concerning the hazard at highway-railway grade crossings. A survey of 259 drivers was made to determine attitudes on a relative scale and on an absolute scale. The relative scale will indicate how hazardous the drivers considered railroad grade crossings relative to several other hazards. The absolute scale will indicate whether the drivers considered railroad grade crossings and the other alternative hazards to be very hazardous, not very hazardous, or somewhere in between.

Six highway hazards were selected for analysis. The six highway hazards selected were:

- 1. a railroad grade crossing;
- 2. a signalized intersection;
- 3. a stop controlled intersection;
- 4. a yield controlled intersection;
- 5. an uncontrolled intersection (crossroad); and
- 6. a curve.

Five of the six hazards are intersections with various types of control. The railroad grade crossing is unique in that it is the intersection of two modes of transportation with vastly different operating characteristics. One of the important differences in operating characteristics of highway-railway grade crossings is the inability of trains to stop in a short distance. Railroad trains require such large stopping distances that they are always given the right-of-way. Another difference is that a relatively small number of trains pass over a grade crossing each day. The advance warning sign for a railroad grade crossing is the same for crossings with automatic signals and for crossings marked only with signs.

A signalized intersection alternately assigns the right-of-way to each road or street. It also gives an identifiable yellow clearance interval which indicates that the right-of-way is changing. Unlike the railroad engineer, the defensive driver may give up his right-of-way to another driver.

A stop controlled intersection requires the driver to relinquish the right-of-way to cross street traffic. Typically, a major street is given a constant right-of-way in preference to the stop controlled minor street. A yield controlled intersection indicates the need to stop only when a vehicle is approaching on the cross street. Finally, a crossroad as presented in this research was a through road intersected by a high volume road. The crossroad sign would be erected only when sight distance was restricted on the through road.

The final hazard evaluated was a simple highway curve. The hazard as presented in this research was a curve without any advisory speed reduction. All six hazards in this research require advance warning signs for restricted sight distance. The advance warning sign for railroad grade crossings is required at virtually all crossings with the following exceptions:

 at a minor siding or spur which is infrequently used and when in use is guarded by a member of the traincrev; and

2. at crossings in business districts which are fully protected and have physical conditions which make even partially effective display of the sign difficult.

#### Methods of Evaluation

The method selected to obtain the necessary driver attitudes was a structured questionnaire using psychological scaling techniques. Two psychological scaling techniques, the method of paired comparisons and a rating scale, were used to evaluate the respondents' attitudes toward each of the six hazards. The method of paired comparisons was used to establish relative ranking of the hazards. The rating scale was used to establish absolute importance of each hazard.

The method chosen to present these six stimuli to the 259 respondents was photographs of the standard advance warning sign (22). In order to present the hazards under realistic conditions, photographs were taken of the advance warning sign for each hazard properly mounted along a two-lane state highway. All signs were photographed at the same location, as shown in Figure 1, so that all possible effects of the highway scene would be the same for all hazards. The location was selected such that any hazard could exist just beyond the crest of a small hill.

It should also be noted that this portion of the research appeared first so that the results would not be affected by questions specifically concerned with railroad crossings. This added precaution



Railroad Crossing

Crossroad





Signal Ahead

Yield Ahead





Stop Ahead

Curve

FIGURE 1. PHOTOGRAPHS OF SIX HIGHWAY HAZARDS AS VIEWED BY THE RESPONDENTS

was taken even though the respondents were never informed that the research was primarily concerned with railroad grade crossings.

#### A Relative Scaling for Six Highway Hazards

The paired comparison technique was used to evaluate the relative hazard of a railroad grade crossing, a signalized intersection, a stop controlled intersection, a yield controlled intersection, a crossroad, and a highway curve. Since the number of pairs necessary for the paired comparison analysis is n(n-1)/2, where n is the number of alternatives, fifteen pairs of hazards are required. Because of several possible sources of error, the pairs were presented in a different random order to each group of respondents. This randomization reduced the effect of persons who have a tendency to always pick the first (or second) response and to reduce the effect of becoming tired after seeing a large number of pairs of alternatives. That is to say, if a specific pair was given last to one group, it may have appeared first to another group.

Using two synchronized 35mm slide projectors, two slides of hazards were displayed side by side on two screens as illustrated in Figure 2. The hazard shown on the screen to the left was labeled A and the hazard on the screen to the right was labeled B. The first two slides shown were an example. Slide A was a truck crossing and slide B was a hill. The respondents were instructed to assume they were driving along a highway. If they thought a truck crossing was a more hazardous situation, then they were told to mark the letter A on their answer sheet as shown in Figure 3. If, on the other hand, they felt that the hill was a more hazardous situation, then they were told to



FIGURE 2. AN EXAMPLE OF THE PAIRED COMPARISON PRESENTATION

Which sign warns of a more hazardous situation?

EXAMPLE SLIDE 1.

A

В

FIGURE 3. AN EXAMPLE OF THE PAIRED COMPARISON ANSWER FORM

mark the letter B on their answer sheet. In the event they felt both hazards were equally hazardous, then they were told arbitrarily select either A or B.

After the example was given and any questions answered, the fifteen pairs of hazards were shown. Each pair of slides were shown for 12 seconds followed by a three-second interval in which nothing was shown. This three-second interval indicated the end of the allotted time and allowed a period to mark the appropriate answer. Although the time allowed seems short, it was found during the pretest that this length of time was quite adequate.

The results of the paired comparison analysis of the six hazards for all 259 respondents are shown in Figure 4. The details of the calculations used to arrive at the scale values are shown in Appendix B. As seen from Figure 4, the railroad grade crossing was the most hazardous situation with a relative scale value of 0.59. The second most hazardous situation with a relative scale value of 0.59. The second most hazardous situation with a relative scale value of 0.59 was a crossroad. Third, with a scale value of 0.45, was a yield controlled intersection. Further down the scale with 0.29 scale value was the stop controlled intersection. This was the approximate mid-point of the scale. The last two hazards were nearly identical with the signalized intersection having a scale value of 0.05 and the highway curve having a scale value of 0.00. That is to say, drivers consider a signalized intersection about as hazardous as a curve.

Thurstone suggests that if the paired comparison assumptions are adequately met, then one should be able to work backwards from the scale values and recreate the originally observed proportions (24).





Ideally, these calculated proportions would be identical to the observed proportions. Therefore, if a good fit of the observed data was made, a plot of the observed proportions  $(P'_{ij})$  versus the calculated proportions  $(P''_{ij})$  should approach a 45 degree straight line through the origin. The better the fit, the closer the data would approach a straight line. Figure 5 is a plot of the calculated versus the observed proportions for all respondents. The plot indicates a reasonably good fit of the model to the data.

Another indicator of the validity of the model is obtained by a least squares fit of the  $P'_{ij}$  versus  $P''_{ij}$  data points. The assumptions of a linear model are not necessarily met, but the slope, intercept, and simple correlation provides an indication of the validity of the paired comparison model. That is, the slope of the fitted line should be 1.00, the intercept should be 0.00, and the correlation 1.00 if the paired comparison model is a perfect fit of the observed data. For the plot shown in Figure 5, the slope is 0.93, the intercept is 0.04, and the correlation is 0.96. This indicates a reasonable fit of the data by the paired comparison model.

#### A Relative Scaling by Subgroups for Six Highway Hazards

In designing an advance warning system for highway-railway grade crossing, one finds it helpful to know if any subgroups of respondents have different attitudes concerning the hazards. If any major subgroups have different attitudes than the respondents as a whole, then any design would have to take the differences into account. Therefore, the sample was divided into four subgroups. The subgroups were sex, miles driven per year, education, and age. These four



FOR SIX HIGHWAY HAZARDS

subgroups were further divided into the following eleven categories for analysis:

- 1. respondents who were males;
- 2. respondents who were females;
- 3. respondents driving under 7,500 miles per year;
- 4. respondents driving 7,500-12,500 miles per year;
- 5. respondents driving over 12,500 miles per year;
- 6. respondents who had not graduated from high school;
- 7. respondents who had graduated from high school;
- 8. respondents who were college graduates;
- 9. respondents under 20 years of age;
- 10. respondents 20-29 years of age; and
- 11. respondents over 29 years of age.

Figure 6 shows the relative scale values for the eleven categories of subgroups. It can be seen that only very minor changes occur in the relative ranking among subgroups. Only three subgroups did not rate railroad crossings as most hazardous. Those driving over 12,500 miles per year and college graduates rated it second to a crossroad. Respondents in the age group 20-29 considered railroad grade crossings to be the third most hazardous situation. Those respondents in the 20 to 29 age group rated a crossroad first, and a yield controlled intersection second. Even in these three cases, railroad grade crossings rated very high on the relative scale. In all categories of subgroups, the stop controlled intersection was rated fourth. Also, the signal controlled intersection and the curve were rated as the two least hazardous situations by all the categories of subgroups.





A visual inspection of the plot of  $P'_{ij}$  versus  $P''_{ij}$  was made for all subgroups. No serious departures from a 45 degree straight line were found in any categories of subgroups except in the female, age under 20, non-high school graduates; and those who drove less than 7,500 miles. This is shown in Table 2 where the slope, intercept, and correlation coefficient are given for a least squares fit of all subgroups. Again, it should be noted that the least squares fit is only an indication which aids in evaluating the  $P'_{ij}$  versus  $P''_{ij}$  plot. Although it would be questionable to accept the results of the three subgroups mentioned, it should be noted that the results were in general agreement with the other subgroups.

#### An Absolute Scaling for Six Highway Hazards

The paired comparison analysis indicated that railroad grade crossings were relatively more hazardous than the other five hazards. A rating scale was used to indicate how hazardous grade crossings rate on an absolute scale.

After the 259 respondents completed the paired comparison questions, they had seen each of the six hazards a total of five times. They were, therefore, familiar with the six hazards. They were now asked to rate each hazard individually. The respondents were told they would be shown each of the six hazards one at a time as shown in Figure 7. They were told to indicate how hazardous they felt each situation was by marking a number from one (not very hazardous) to seven (very hazardous). The more hazardous the situation the higher the number they should mark. Figure 3 shows an example of the rating scale.

TABLE 2. LEAST SQUARES FIT OF  $P'_{ij}$  VERSUS  $P''_{ij}$  by categories of subgroups for the evaluation of Six Highway Hazards

Categories of Subgroups	Intercept	Slope	Correlation
All Respondents	.0356	.9279	.9623
Males	.0270	.9440	.9702
Females	.1690	.6426	.7831
Age <20	.1175	.7442	.8558
Age 20-29	.0082	.9696	,9757
Age >29	.0399	.9227	.9603
Non-High School Graduates	.1462	.6811	.8057
High School Graduates	.0554	.8961	.9420
College Graduates	.0155	.9569	.9746
<7500 Miles	.1607	.6563	.7938
7500-12500 Miles	.0083	.9860	.9872
>12500 Miles	.0410	.9165	.9609

Slide l



FIGURE 7. AN EXAMPLE OF THE RATING SCALE PRESENTATION

How hazardous a situation is shown?



Table 3 shows the mean, standard deviation, and the distribution of responses for the 259 respondents. As can be seen from the table, the crossroad, the yield controlled intersection, the railroad crossing, and the curve could only be considered moderately hazardous. The mean ranged from a high of 4.93 for the crossroad to a low of 4.22 for the curve. The distribution of responses also shows that less than 20 percent of the respondents rated any of the four hazards with the highest value of seven.

A value of four on the rating scale can be taken as indifference. The respondents were, therefore, indifferent about the hazard at stop controlled intersections. The mean rating for stop controlled intersections was 4.00. The respondents gave a signalized intersection a mean rating of 3.37. The data indicates the respondents considered signalized intersections as less than hazardous.

Overall, the data seems to indicate that only four hazards are even moderately hazardous. The respondents definitely do not feel strongly toward either extreme.

#### An Absolute Scaling by Subgroups for Six Highway Hazards

The same subgroups used in the paired comparison analysis were again used in the rating scale analysis. As can be seen in Table 4, the results for all the categories of subgroups are basically the same. The results for all the subgroups indicated that the situations were only moderately hazardous.

A contingency test was used to determine if the distribution of responses was independent of the subgroups. As shown in Table 5, only

THE MEAN, STANDARD DEVIATION, AND DISTRIBUTION OF RESPONSES FOR THE RATING SCALE FOR THE EVALUATION OF HIGHWAY HAZARDS TABLE 3.

	0			SC	ALE VAL	UE				Standard
HAZMKU	Response		2	Ċ	4	5	9	7	liean	Deviation
Signal Ahead	$1^{*}$ (0.4)**	13 (6.9)	56 (21.6)	63 (24,3)	75 (29•0)	30 (11.6)	12 (4.6)	4 (1.5)	3.37	1.34
Stop Ahead	1 (0.4)	27 (10.4)	29 (8.5)	41 (15.3)	52 (20.1)	50 (19,3)	30 (11.6)	29 (11.2)	4.00	1.80
Railroad Crossing	2 (0.3)	13 (5.0)	22 (8.5)	35 (13.5)	47 (18.1)	43 (13.5)	54 (20.8)	38 (14.7)	4.59	1.72
Yield Ahead	1 (0.4)	$6 (2 \cdot 3)$	28 (10.8)	26 (10.0)	50 (19.3)	68 (26.2)	54 (20.8)	26(10.0)	4.60	1.55
Curve Ahead	1 (0.4)	19 (7.3)	37 (14.3)	32 (12.4)	52 (20.1)	47 (18.1)	40 (15.4)	31 (12.0)	4.22	1.79
Crossroad	(0.8)	6 (2.3)	15 (5.3)	27 (10.4)	47 (18.1)	56 (21.6)	59 (22.8)	47 (18.1)	4.93	1.57

\*Top number indicates the number of responses.

\*\*Bottom number indicates the percent of the 259 total respondents.

TABLE 4.	ABSOLUTE SCALES	ΒY	CATEGORIES	OF	SUBGROUPS	FOR	THE
	EVALUATION	OF	HIGHWAY HAZ	ARI	)S		

				*********	CO. CILLO CO.
				SUB	GROUP AND
HAZARD	All Respon- dents (259)	Males (209)	Females (50)	Age <20 (94)	Age 20-29 (85)
Signal	3.37*	3.33	3.54	3.45	3.14
	(1.34)**	(1.28)	(1.54)	(1.34)	(1.26)
Stop	4.00	4.09	3.98	4.15	3.72
	(1.80)	(1.76)	(1.97)	(1.80)	(1.78)
Railroad	4.59	4.46	5.14	5.15	4.60
	(1.72)	(1.74)	(1.54)	(1.55)	(1.74)
Yield	4.60	4.57	4.70	4.44	4.74
	(1.55)	(1.56)	(1.53)	(1.58)	(1.47)
Curve	4.22	4.22	4.24	4.32	3,52
	(1.79)	(1.79)	(1.80)	(1.85)	(1.65)
Crossroad	4.93	4.96	4.82	4.82	5,01
	(1.57)	(1.55)	(1.66)	(1.67)	(1.57)

\*Average rating.

\*\*Standard deviation.

				* * * * * * * * * * * *		
NUMBER OF	RESPONDENT	S				
Age >29 (30)	Non- H.S. Grads (88)	H.S. Grads (83)	College Grads (88)	<7500 Miles (87)	7500- 12500 Miles (76)	>12500 Miles (83)
3.52	3.45	3.12	3.51	3.43	3.43	3.25
(1.40)	(1.25)	(1.40)	(1.35)	(1.49)	(1.22)	(1.32)
4.34	4.24	3.82	4.12	4.05	4.20	3.90
(1.78)	(1.75)	(1.85)	(1.79)	(1.83)	(1.93)	(1.68)
3.91	5.01	4.52	4.24	4.91	4.79	4.10
(1.66)	(1.53)	(1.82)	(1.68)	(1.63)	(1.70)	(1.76)
4.63	4.45	4.48	4.85	4.48	4.69	4.54
(1.59)	(1.55)	(1.51)	(1.57)	(1.43)	(1.61)	(1.65)
4.86	4.34	4.17	4.15	4.30	3.38	4.40
(1.61)	(1.81)	(1.70)	(1.86)	(1.77)	(1.75)	(1.77)
4.98	4.90	4.95	4.95	4.82	5.07	4.86
(1.45)	(1.64)	(1.62)	(1.44)	(1.59)	(1.43)	(1.65)

TABLE 4, cont.

llazard	Subgroups	Degrees of Freedom	Chi Square Calculated	Chi Square at .01	Reject Null Hypothesis?
Signal	Sex	3	.3423	11.3	,
	Age	6	10.3	16.8	No
	Education	6	7.90	16.3	No
	Miles	8	5.12	20.1	No
Stop	Sex Age Education Miles	3 8 12 12	1.98 6.61 5.05 11.23	11.3 20.1 26.2 26.2	No No No
Railroad	Sex	3	7.20	11.3	No
	Age	10	26.2	23.2	Yes
	Education	10	17.4	23.2	No
	Miles	10	12.7	23.2	No
Yield	Sex Age Education Miles	3 6 6 6	3.34 5.06 4.69 1.81	11.3 16.8 16.8 16.8	No No No
Curve	Sex	3	1.46	11.3	No
	Age	6	25.6	16.8	Yes
	Education	12	4.58	26.2	No
	Miles	12	9.51	26.2	No
Crossroad	Sex	4	3.17	13.3	210
	Age	10	9.02	23.2	210
	Education	10	7.00	23.2	210
	Miles	8	3.36	20.1	210

# TABLE 5. CONTINGENCY TESTS BY SUBGROUPS FOR THE EVALUATION OF SIX HIGHWAY HAZARDS

Null Hypothesis: The distribution of responses is independent of the subgroup.

CHAPTER V. PRIORITIES FOR ALLOCATING HIGHWAY TAXES

The objective of this part of the research was to evaluate driver priorities for improving the safety at railroad grade crossings . and several other highway improvements. The eight areas chosen for evaluation were of approximately the same order of magnitude of cost. The eight areas were:

- 1. improve warning devices at railroad grade crossings;
- 2. improve the road surface on major highways;
- 3. improve signs giving directions;
- 4. provide mowing of grass along the sides of highways;
- 5. install more traffic lights;
- 6. improve roadside rest areas;
- 7. improve maintenance of painted lines on roads; and

8. provide free emergency telephones that are connected only to the highway department and the police department.

The method of evaluation chosen was a rating scale. As shown in Figure 9, each item was written above a scale from one to seven.

IMPROVE WARNING DEVICES AT RAILROAD CROSSINGS

	1	2 3	3 2	+	5 6	7	
UNimportant							Important
FIGURE	9. AN	EXAMPT	E OF	THE	RATING	SCALE	FORMAT

for the age subgroup was the hypothesis of independence rejected at an alpha level of .01 for both the railroad crossing and the curve. It was found that railroad crossings were rated less hazardous as age increased. Also, those over 29 found a curve more hazardous than did those under 20, while those between 20 and 29 felt a curve to be least hazardous.

#### Summary

It has been shown that railroad grade crossings are considered by the respondents to be relatively more hazardous than signalized intersections, yield controlled intersections, crossroads, and cruves. However, the respondents consider only four of the six highway situations to be even moderately hazardous. An analysis using four subgroups resulted in the same conclusions as were made for the 259 respondents. Respondents were told to indicate the importance of each item in receiving highway taxes. The scale ranged from one, indicating the item was unimportant, to seven, which indicated that the item was important. The higher the number indicated, the more money the respondent felt should be placed on the corresponding alternative.

#### Driver Preferences for Highway Improvements

The results of the rating scale for the 259 respondents are shown in Table 6. The numbers shown are the distribution of responses, the average responses, and the standard deviations. The respondents gave the improvement of the road surface the highest average rating of 5.77. The standard deviation was 1.38. A value of 5.77 indicates a relatively high degree of importance considering the maximum possible score is seven. Table 6 also shows that only 16 percent gave a rating of four or less. This result agrees with work done by Heathington (15) where it was found that Chicago drivers also considered the repair of pavement the most important of ten alternative transportation improvements for expressways.

Improving the safety at railroad grade crossings received an average rating of 5.74. The standard deviation was 1.47. This rating was a close second to improving road surfaces. Nearly 44 percent of the respondents indicated the highest degree of importance (a rating of seven) for improving the safety at railroad grade crossings. Less than 19 percent of the respondents indicated a response of four or less. The rating indicates a high degree of importance for improving safety at railroad grade crossings.

THE MEAN, STANDARD DEVIATION, AND DISTRIBUTION OF RESPONSES FOR THE RATING SCALE FOR THE ALTERNATIVE HIGHWAY IMPROVEMENTS TABLE 6.

,

		*****	11 11 12 14 15 15 18 18			1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1				
	ON			SC	ALE VAL	,UE			16.00	Standard
TALKOATMENT	Response	7	61	3	4	5	6	7	lean	Deviation
Traffic Lights	3* (1.1)**	19 (7.3)	29 (11.2)	43 (16.6)	63 (24.3)	53 (20.5)	28 (10.3)	21 (8.1)	4.05	<b>1.</b> 64
Road Surface	4 (1.5)	3 (1.1)	6 (2.3)	9 (3.5)	25 (9.7)	43 (16.6)	63 (26.2)	101 (39.0)	5.77	1.38
Directional Signs	4 (1.5)	7 (2.7)	11 (4.2)	30 (11.6)	51 (19.7)	51 (19.7)	46 (17.3)	59 (22.8)	4.97	1.62
Mowing Grass	4 (1.5)	41 (15.8)	63 (26.2)	51 (19.7)	42 (16.2)	25 (9.7)	13 (5,0)	15 (5.3)	3.16	1.69
Railroad Crossings	4 (1.5)	3 (1.1)	8 (3.1)	12 (4.6)	26(10.0)	42 (16,2)	53 (20.5)	111 (42.3)	5.74	1.47
Rest Areas	4 (1.5)	35 (13.5)	33 (14.7)	40 (15.4)	54 (20.8)	33 (14.7)	27 (10.4)	23 (8.9)	3.76	1.82
Painted Lines	5 (1.9)	(0,3)	14 (5.4)	13 (6.9)	38 (14.7)	42 (16.2)	49 (18.9)	91 (35.1)	5.42	1.58
Tmergency Telephones	6 (2.3)	18 (6.9)	19 (7.3)	19 (7.3)	43 (16.6)	46 (17.8)	45 (17.4)	63 (24.3)	4.84	1.86

\*\*Percent of 259 total responses.

\*Number of responses.

Third with an average rating of 5.42 was the improvement of the maintenance of painted lines. The corresponding standard deviation was 1.58. As seen in Table 6, more than 70 percent of the responses were higher than the midpoint value of four. Fourth with an average response of 4.97 and a standard deviation of 1.62 is the improvement of signs giving directions. This item is nearly a full scale division below the top rated item to improve road surfaces. The number of responses over four was 60 percent. Improvement of directional signs, therefore, could only be considered moderately important. Just below the improvement of directional signs is the provision of emergency telephones along highways. This item had a mean of 4.84 and a standard deviation of 1.86. It also could be considered moderately important with approximately 60 percent indicating responses over four on the scale.

Rated sixth with a mean of 4.05 and a standard deviation of 1.64 was the installation of more traffic lights. Looking at the distribution of results, only four percent more of the respondents rated traffic signals above four than did those who rated it below four. At best, installing more traffic signals could only be considered slightly important.

The remaining two items have ratings below the indifference point of four. They were considered to be unimportant by more people than thought they were important. Rated seventh with a mean of 3.76 and a standard deviation of 1.82 was the improvement of roadside rest areas. Last with a mean of 3.16 and a standard deviation of 1.69 was the provision of the mowing of grass along the sides of highways.

#### Driver Preferences by Subgroups for Ilighway Improvements

A contingency test was made for subgroups based on sex, age, education, and miles driven per year to determine if the distribution of responses was independent of the subgroup. As is shown in Table 7, the hypothesis of independence is rejected in two subgroups at an alpha level of 0.01. This was the education subgroup for the improvement of road surfaces and the age subgroup for the improvement of the maintenance of painted lines.

Table 8 shows the means and standard deviations for all categories of subgroups. The improvement of road surfaces is shown to be considered most important by high school graduates, less important by non-high school graduates, and least important by college graduates. The ratings ranged from 5.44 to 6.18 for the three education categories. This indicates a high degree of importance by all the respondents for the improvement of the maintenance of road surfaces.

The improvement of the maintenance of painted lines was considered more important as age increased. The average rating of 6.0 for those over 29 was nearly a full scale division above an average of 5.18 for those age 20 to 29 and an average of 5.17 for those under 20. The average of 6.0 indicates a very high degree of importance for the maintenance of painted lines for those over age 29. The remainder of the respondents only considered painted lines as moderately important.

#### Summary

The improvement of the safety at railroad grade crossings was considered very important by the 259 respondents. The respondents also

Alterna- tive	Subgroups	Degrees of Freedom	Chi Square Calculated	Chi Square at .01	Reject Null Hypothesis?
Traffic Lights	Sex Age `Education Miles	4 8 12 12	1.14 10.5 4.99 13.8	13.3 20.1 26.2 26.2	No No No No
Road Surface	Sex Age Education Miles	2 6 8 6	6.56 9.03 21.0 6.48	9.21 16.8 20.1 16.8	No No Yes No
Direction- al Signs	Sex Age Education Miles	4 8 8 8	6.03 15.2 5.74 10.0	13.3 20.1 20.1 20.1	No No No
Mowing Grass	Sex Age Education Miles	4 10 8 8	.653 14.0 18.5 8.20	13.3 23.2 20.1 20.1	No No No
Railroad Crossings	Sex Age Education Miles	2 6 6 6	5.42 10.6 16.0 6.89	9.21 16.8 16.8 16.8	No No No No
Rest Λreas	Sex Age Education Miles	2 10 12 8	7.63 11.4 5.61 9.55	9.21 23.2 26.2 20.1	No No No No
Painted Lines	Sex Age Education Miles	4 8 8 3	2.08 20.8 9.77 10.1	13.3 20.1 20.1 20.1	No Yes No No
Emergency Telephones	Sex Age Education Miles	4 8 8 8	2.24 10.5 12.0 7.57	13.3 20.1 20.1 20.1	No No No No

# TABLE 7. CONTINGENCY TESTS BY SUBGROUPS FOR THE<br/>ALTERNATIVE HIGHWAY IMPROVEMENTS

Null Hypothesis: The distribution of responses is independent of the subgroup.

TABLE 8.	ABSOLUTE	SCALES	VALUES	ΒY	SUBGROUPS	FOR	THE
	ALTERNATI	IVE HIGH	WAY IMI	PROV	/EMENTS		

	SUBGROUPS AND						
IMPROVEMENT	All Respon- dents (259)	Nales (209)	Females (50)	Age <20 (94)	Age 20-29 (85)		
Traffic Lights	6*	6	6	6	6		
	4.05**	4.01	4.24	4.18	3.79		
	(1.64) <b>*</b> **	(1.65)	(1.58)	(1.61)	(1,48)		
Road Surface	1	1	2	2	1		
	5.77	5.69	6.10	5.79	6.04		
	(1.38)	(1.44)	(1.04)	(1.37)	(1.28)		
Directional Signs	4	4	4	5	4		
	4.97	4.94	5.08	4.70	5.02		
	(1.62)	(1.65)	(1.47)	(1.60)	(1.60)		
Mowing Grass	8	8	8	8	8		
	3.16	3.18	3.10	3.22	2.82		
	(1.69)	(1.72)	(1.57)	(1.62)	(1.53)		
Railroad Crossings	2	2	1	1	2		
	5.74	5.62	6.22	6.13	5.46		
	(1.47)	(1.56)	(0.93)	(1.11)	(1.57)		
Rest Areas	7	7	7	7	7		
	3.76	3.87	3.32	3.47	3.61		
	(1.82)	(1.86)	(1.60)	(1.72)	(1.79)		
Painted Lines	3	3	3	3	3		
	5.42	5,46	5.24	5.17	5.18		
	(1.58)	(1.57)	(1.66)	(1.54)	(1,70)		
Emergency Tele- phones	5 4.84 (1.36)	5 4.80 (1.89)	5 5.04 (1.71)	4 5.09 (1.66)	5 4.67 (1.98)		

\*Relative rank.

\*\*Average rating.

\*\*\*Standard deviation.

NUMBER OF RESPONDENTS								
Age >29 (80)	Non- H.S. Grads (88)	H.S. Grads (83)	College Grads (38)	<7500 Miles (87)	7500- 12500 Miles (76)	>12500 Miles (83)		
7	6	6	6	6	6	6		
4.19	4.16	4.01	3.99	4.07	3.97	4.04		
(1.81)	(1.64)	(1.62)	(1.66)	(1.54)	(1.79)	(1.66)		
3	2	1	2	2	1	2		
5.46	5.72	6.18	5.44	5.83	5.88	5.57		
(1.45)	(1.42)	(1.24)	(1.38)	(1.45)	(1.34)	(1.35)		
4	5	4	4	5	4	4		
5.24	4.81	5.00	5.10	4.85	5.25	4.84		
(1.63)	(1.64)	(1.72)	(1.49)	(1.65)	(1.50)	(1.65)		
8	8	8	8	8	8	8		
3.46	3.12	3.59	2.79	2.99	3.42	3.13		
(1.89)	(1.58)	(1.90)	(1.50)	(1.59)	(1.85)	(1.68)		
2	1	2	3	1	2	3		
5.58	6.08	5.91	5.23	5.91	5.68	5.55		
(1.66)	(1.14)	(1.44)	(1.67)	(1.29)	(1.65)	(1.50)		
6	7	7	7	7	7	7		
4.30	3.61	3.73	3.95	3.52	3.81	4.01		
(1.91)	(1.78)	(1.92)	(1.78)	(1.72)	(1.83)	(1.96)		
1	3	3	1	3	3	1		
6.00	5.16	5.46	5.66	5.30	5.42	5.58		
(1.36)	(1.57)	(1.72)	(1.43)	(1.54)	(1.68)	(1.57)		
5	4	4	5	4	5	5		
4.75	5.13	5.00	4.42	4.90	5.03	4.53		
(1.93)	(1.69)	(1.91)	(1.91)	(1.87)	(1.77)	(1.98)		

TABLE 8, cont.

considered it important that highway taxes be spent on the improvement of road surfaces, and the improvement of the maintenance of painted lines. A moderately important priority was given to the improvement of directional signs and the provision of emergency telephones. The installation of more traffic signals was rated indifferent. The improvement of roadside rest areas and the mowing of grass along the sides of highways were both rated as relatively unimportant.

# CHAPTER VI. AN EVALUATION OF SEVERAL WARNING SYSTEMS FOR HIGHWAY-RAILWAY GRADE CROSSINGS

The third objective of this research was to propose and evaluate new advance warning systems for railroad grade crossings. Three new systems were proposed for evaluation relative to two existing systems. This chapter summarizes the evaluation of five alternative warning systems for highway-railway grade crossings.

There are five basic senses with which one can receive information. They are sight, taste, smell, touch, and hearing. It can easily be seen that taste, smell, and touch play only a minor role in driving. There are of course special situations where these three minor senses become important. For example, the road may have artificial bumps placed on the road surface to attract the attention of a driver. These rumble strips or jiggle bars, as they are called, use the sense of "feel" to alert the driver. Nevertheless, sight and sound remain the important modes of communication for drivers.

The three new advance warning systems are based on the previous research as reviewed in Chapter II. Two proposed systems used visual communication. A changeable message advance warning sign was the result of work on an FDIS (14). A device similar to the dashboard display of ERGS (24) was used to provide a visual in-car message. The third and last new system was an audio in-car message. This system was

patterned after the roadside communication subsystem of the DAIR (12) system. An audio warning system external to the vehicle was not considered in this research.

Two existing systems were included in the analysis: One was the active flashing lights and the other was a passive system consisting only of warning signs. All five warning systems are shown in Figure 10. It can be seen that the same highway scene was used with the appropriate warning devices being photographically added.

#### A Relative Scaling of Warning Systems

The method of paired comparisons was used to evaluate relative preferences of drivers for the five alternative warning systems for use at grade crossings. The respondents were shown the five hazards two at a time. A total of 10 pairs of hazards were shown. The respondents were asked to indicate which of the two warning devices were more desirable.

Figure 11 shows the results of the ranking by the 259 respondents. The actual calculations are shown in Appendix B. By far the most desirable method of warning was the changeable message sign. It has a relative ranking of 1.39. The changeable message sign was well above the standard flashing lights which had a rating of 1.00. Third with a rating of 0.60 was the in-car audio message, followed closely by the in-car visual message with a rating of 0.52. By far the least desirable method of warning was the passive warning sign with a relative rating of 0.00.

In order to evaluate the results obtained by the paired comparison model, observed proportions  $(P_{ij}^{\dagger})$  were plotted against the



Changeable Message Sign



Standard Flashing Lights





In-Car Audio Message

In-Car Visual Message



Passive Warning Sign

FIGURE 10. PHOTOGRAPHS OF THE WARNING SYSTEMS FOR HIGHWAY-RAILWAY GRADE CROSSINGS



FIGURE 11. A RELATIVE SCALING OF WARNING SYSTEMS FOR HIGHWAY-RAILWAY GRADE CROSSINGS
calculated proportions  $(P''_{ij})$ . This  $P'_{ij}$  versus  $P''_{ij}$  plot is shown in Figure 12. The plot indicates a reasonable approximation of a 45 degree straight line through the origin. Another indicator used to evaluate the model was a least squares fit of the  $P'_{ij}$  versus  $P''_{ij}$  data. If the model was an exact fit, the slope would be 1.00, the intercept would be 0.00, and the simple correlation would be 1.00. The actual results indicated a slope of 1.00, an intercept of -0.02, and a correlation of 0.99. These results tend to indicate a good fit of the observed data by the paired comparison model.

#### A Relative Scaling by Subgroups of Warning Systems

In order to determine if groups within the sample had different preferences, an analysis was made for various subgroups. These are the same subgroups as in previous parts of the research. Figure 13 shows the results of the paired comparison analysis for the eleven categories of the four subgroups and for all the respondents. The results indicate general agreement for all subgroups. The changeable message sign was rated first by all subgroups. The first choice was also well above the second rated standard flashers. Again, all subgroups rated flashers second. The third and fourth choice for all subgroups was the in-car devices. Most subgroups rated the audio device above the visual device. Those respondents who drove more than 12,500 miles per year, and those over age 29, rated the visual in-car device over the audio device. The least preferred method of warning for all subgroups was the passive warning sign.

Plots were made of the P' versus P'' for all subgroups. These plots are not included, but they all indicated a good fit of the data.



FIGURE 12. CALCULATED VERSUS OBSERVED PROPORTIONS FOR WARNING SYSTEMS FOR HIGHWAY-RAILWAY GRADE CROSSINGS

SUBGROUPS FOR WARNING SYSTEMS FOR HIGHWAY-RAILUAY GRADE CROSSINGS RILATIVE SCALES BY FIGURF 13.

Passive Warning Sign



A least squares fit of the  $P'_{ij}$  versus  $P''_{ij}$  was also made as an indicator of the validity of the model. As shown in Table 9, all the slopes approach 1.00, the intercepts approach 0.00, and the correlations approach 1.00. These results also indicated a relatively good fit of the paired comparison model to the data for all subgroups.

#### An Absolute Scaling of Warning Systems

The paired comparison analysis gave a relative scale indicating that a changeable message sign was the most desirable of five alternative methods of warning. The relative desirability of the warning systems does not give us a complete picture. It is also important to know on an absolute scale the desirability of the warning systems. Therefore the next question to be answered is how important are the alternative methods of warning on an absolute scale.

The method of evaluation selected was a rating scale as shown in Figure 14. The respondents were shown a slide of a warning system and told to mark their response on the rating scale.

Slide 1.

	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	
Undesirable		!		ţ.				Desirable
FIGURE	14. AN STEMS FO	EXA: DR HI	PLE O GHWAY	F A R -RAII	ATING NAY G	; SCAL ;RADE	E FOR CROSS	WARNING INGS

The scale ranged from one (undesirable) to seven (desirable). The higher the number selected, the more desirable the respondents considered the warning system. After completion of the paired comparison question, the respondents were shown the five methods of warning one at

TABLE	9.	LEAST	SQUAI	RES F	IT	OF	P' ij	VERSUS	S P" ij	ΒY	CATEGORI	ES OF
	SU	BGROUPS	FOR	WARN	ING	; SY	STEN	IS FOR	HIGH	WAY-	RAILWAY	
				G	RAD	DE C	ROSS	SINGS				

Categories of Subgroups	Intercept	Slope	Correlation
All Respondents	0160	1.0037	•9894
Males	0066	.9926	.9842
Females	0329	1.0136	.9842
Age <20	0229	.9583	•9848
Age 20-29	0105	.9922	.9710
Age >29	0114	.9880	.9684
Non-High School Graduates	.0121	.9726	.9914
High School Graduates	.0033	.9724	.9678
College Graduates	0391	1.0312	.9878
<7500 Miles	.0103	.9734	.1895
7500-12500 Miles	0219	1.0127	.9907
>12500 Miles	0250	1.0063	.9718

a time. They were told to indicate their response on the appropriate scale on the answer sheet.

The results are shown in Table 10 for all 259 respondents. The variable message advance warning sign had a mean rating of 6.03 and a standard deviation of 1.43. The distribution of responses is also shown in Table 10. It can be seen that the variable message sign was given the highest rating of seven by over 56 percent of the respondents. The changeable message sign was considered to be a very desirable method of warning by the majority of the respondents.

The standard flashing lights had a mean of 5.17, and a standard deviation of 1.49. The flashers were nearly a full scale division below the changeable message sign. Only 22.8 percent of the respondents gave it a rating of seven, but a total of 69.5 percent rated it above four on the scale. The flashers could be considered moderately desirable.

Lower down on the scale with a mean of 4.19 and a standard deviation of 2.03 was the in-car visual message. The in-car audio message had a mean of 4.07 and a standard deviation of 1.89. As indicated by the distribution of responses, only about 10 percent more of the respondents rated these devices above four than did those who rated below four. Also, more than 16 percent rated each device with the lowest rating of one. At best, considering that a value of four is indifference, the respondents considered the in-car devices as slightly desirable.

The passive sign was rated lowest with a mean of 3.37 and a standard deviation of 1.57. Passive signs were rated less than four by

TABLE 10. THE MEAN, STANDARD DEVIATION, AND DISTRIBUTION OF RESPONSES FOR THE EVALUATION OF WARNING SYSTEMS FOR HIGHWAY-RAILWAY GRADE CROSSINGS

	011			SC	ALE VAL	UE				Standard
ALT-IOD	Response		c1	с Г	4	5	9	L L	Mean	Deviation
sive Sign	*0,0,0) *0	36 (13.9)	47 (18.1)	50 (19.3)	68 (26.2)	35 (13.5)	14 (5.4)	9 (3.5)	3.37	1.57
shing Lights	1 (0.4)	5 (1+9)	10 (3.9)	17 (6.6)	46 (17.3)	65 (25,1)	56 (21.6)	59 (22.3)	5.17	1.49
table Message	1 (0.4)	4 (1.5)	3 (1.1)	15 (5.3)	19 (7.3)	22 (8.5)	49 (18.9)	146 (56.4)	6.03	1.43
-Car Visual	0 (0.0)	42 (16.2)	13 (6.9)	31 (12.0)	46 (17.8)	57 (22 <b>.</b> 0)	40 (15.4)	25 (9.7)	4.07	<b>1.</b> 39
Car Audio	0(0.0)	45 (17.4)	22 (8.5)	21 (8.1)	39 (15.1)	49 (17.3)	48 (18.5)	35 (13.5)	4.19	2.03

\*Top number indicates number of responses.

\*\*Bottom number indicates percent of 259 total respondents.

ż

more than 50 percent of the respondents. Only 22.4 percent of the respondents rated the passive sign above four. Passive signs were therefore considered not desirable by the majority of the respondents.

#### An Absolute Scaling by Subgroups of Warning Systems

Table 11 shows the result of the rating scale for eleven subgroups of the total sample. These are the same subgroups as were used in all parts of the analysis. The results are generally the same for all subgroups. The variable message sign was rated very desirable by all subgroups.

A contingency test was also made to determine if the distribution of responses was independent of the subgroup. The results are shown in Table 12. The hypothesis of independence was not rejected at an alpha level of .01 for any subgroups. There is no reason to believe that any of the subgroups had different preferences for methods of warning.

#### Summary

The overhead changeable message sign was the most preferred alternative method of warning by all 259 respondents. It was also considered to be very desirable by all the subgroups. In-car devices were rated lower than present flashers. The least preferred method of warning is a passive sign that indicates the same warning at all times.

TABLE 11.	ABSOLUTE	SCALES	BX	SURGKOUF	'S FOR	WARNING	SYSTEMS	FOR
	HIGH	WAY-RA	ILWA	Y GRADE	CROSS	INGS		

....

,				SUBC	ROUPS AND
SYSTEM	All Respon- dents (259)	Males (209)	Females (50)	Age <20 (94)	Аде 20-29 (85)
Passive Sign	3.37*	3.38	3.34	3.22	3.52`
	(1.57)**	(1.54)	(1.68)	(1.60)	(1.53)
Flashers	5.17	5.24	4.38	4.99	4.99
	(1.49)	(1.43)	(1.70)	(1.53)	(1.53)
Variable Sign	6.03	6.01	6.12	6.05	5.95
	(1.43)	(1.49)	(1.17)	(1.40)	(1.51)
In-Car Radio	4.07	4.01	4.32	4.28	3.88
	(1.89)	(1.96)	(1.54)	(1.75)	(1.85)
. In-Car Visual	4.19	4.15	4.38	4.36	4.01
Message	(2.03)	(2.07)	(1.85)	(2.09)	(1.90)

\*Average rating.

\*\*Standard deviation.

NUMBER OF	RESPONDENT	S				
Age >29 (80)	Non- H.S. Grads (88)	H.S. Grads (83)	College Grads · (38)	<7500 Miles (87)	7500- 12500 Miles (76)	>12500 Miles (83)
3.40	3.35	3.53	3.25	3.33	3.37	3.36
(1.56)	(1.65)	(1.56)	(1.49)	(1.65)	(1.65)	(1.49)
5.58	5.15	5.10	5.26	5.10	5.09	5.41
(1.32)	(1.59)	(1.54)	(1.33)	(1.57)	(1.40)	(1.38)
6.10	6.00	6.04	6.07	6.03	6.03	6.12
(1.39)	(1.53)	(1.44)	(1.34)	(1.43)	(1.42)	(1.38)
4.04	4.30	3.98	3.94	4.09	3.96	4.11
(2.03)	(1.33)	(1.88)	(1.96)	(1.71)	(1.98)	(2.01)
4.19	4.42	4.07	4.08	4.22	4.32	4.05
(2.09)	(2.12)	(2.02)	(1.95)	(1.98)	(2.14)	(1.98)

TABLE 11, cont.

•

System	Subgroups	Degrees of Freedom	Chi Square Calculated	Chi Square at .01	Reject Null Hypothesis?
1	Sex Age Education Miles	4 10 10 10	5.53 15.7. 14.4 7.35	13.3 23.2 23.2 23.2 23.2	No No No No
2	Sex	5	5.70	15.1	No
	Age	8	9.35	20.1	No
	Education	8	6.59	20.1	No
	Miles	8	8.38	20.1	No
3	Sex	2	1.98	9.2	Ho
	Age	8	.707	20.1	No
	Education	8	1.43	20.1	No
	Miles	8	4.06	20.1	No
4	Sex	4	11.5	13.3	No
	Age	8	11.1	20.1	No
	Education	10	7.36	23.2	No
	Miles	12	16.0	26.2	No
5	Sex	6	7.17	16.8	No
	Age	10	12.4	23.2	No
	Education	12	9.44	26.2	No
	Miles	12	11.6	26.2	No

TABLE 12. CONTINGENCY TESTS BY SUBGROUPS FOR WARNING SYSTEMS FOR HIGHWAY-RAILWAY GRADE CROSSINGS

- 1 = Passive Advance Warning Sign
- 2 = Standard Flashers
- 3 = Overhead Variable Message Sign
- 4 = In-Car Visual Message
- 5 = In-Car Audio Message

Hull Hypothesis: The distribution of responses is independent of the subgroup.

### CHAPTER VII. AN EVALUATION OF ALTERNATIVE DISPLAYS FOR USE IN ADVANCE WARNING SYSTEMS FOR

HIGHWAY-RAILWAY GRADE CROSSINGS

The objective to propose and evaluate new advance warning systems was only partially met in Chapter VI. In order to completely evaluate the proposed new systems, it was necessary to evaluate alternative displays to be used in the advance warning systems. The evaluation of alternative displays is important in order to determine a display with the correct meaning. Economic considerations also make it desirable to have as short a display as possible. The methods of evaluation were the method of paired comparisons and a rating scale.

The evaluation of the alternative messages was made in two parts. The first part of the evaluation concerned messages to be used when a driver had to stop because of the presence, or imminent presence, of a train. The second part of the evaluation concerned messages to be used when there was no train. The simplest alternative for the second condition is to provide no message. If this alternative was accepted, then no analysis would be necessary. It was decided, however, to evaluate the "no message" (no information) alternative with several messages indicating that no hazard existed.

#### A Relative Scaling for Alternative Displays When a Hazard Exists

Five alternative messages were selected for possible use when a train is blocking the highway or so close to the crossing that it constitutes an imminent hazard to approaching vehicles. The actual messages are shown in Figure 15. The alternatives were shown to the respondents in the same manner and at the same location as used in the hazard evaluation in Chapter VI.

The paired comparison technique was used to evaluate the relative acceptability of the five alternative displays. The results for the 259 respondents are shown in Figure 16. The most preferred display with a relative scale value was " $\widehat{\mathbb{R}}$  TRACKS BLOCKED/STOP AMEAD." This display both identifies the hazard and tells the driver the necessary action to take. A close second with a 1.27 scale value was the display " $\widehat{\mathbb{R}}$  CROSSING BLOCKED/STOP AMEAD." This display has the same characteristics as the most preferred display. The only difference is the word "crossing" in place of "tracks."

Third rated was the display "RR TRACKS BLOCKED." The relative scale value was 0.39. It can be seen that it is very important to the respondents to be told that they should "stop ahead." Except for the words "stop ahead," this display is identical to the top rated display.

The fourth rated display contained all words (no symbols). The display was "RAILROAD CROSSING/TRACKS BLOCKED" and had a scale value of 0.15. Comparing this display with the third rated "(R)R TRACKS BLOCKED," one can see that the symbol is apparently recognized and seems to be preferred over the equivalent in words.

TRACKS BLOCKED STOP AHEAD STOP AHEAD TRACKS BLOCKED

# RR

## RAILROAD CROSSING

### TRACKS BLOCKED

RR X ing

### STOP AHEAD

FIGURE 15. DISPLAYS FOR ADVANCE WARNING SYSTEMS WHEN A HAZARD EXISTS AT HIGHWAY-RAILWAY GRADE CROSSINGS



FIGURE 16. A RELATIVE SCALE FOR ALTERNATIVE DISPLAYS FOR ADVANCE WARVING SYSTEMS WHEN A HAZARD EXISTS AT A HIGHWAY-RAILWAY GRADE CROSSING

The last display contained an abbreviation for the railroad symbol plus the stop ahead instruction. The display "RR Xing/STOP ANEAD" had a relative scale value of 0.0. Even with the stop ahead instructions, this display received the lowest rating.

In order to check the validity of the results, the observed proportions  $(P'_{ij})$  were plotted against the calculated proportions  $(P''_{ij})$  based on the paired comparison model. The results are shown in Figure 17. A least squares fit of the  $P'_{ij}$  versus  $P''_{ij}$  matrix was also made as an indicator of how well the model fit the data. The results were an intercept of 0.02, a slope of 0.95, and a correlation of 0.99. If the model was a perfect fit of the data, the intercept would be 0.00, the slope would be 1.00, and the correlation would also be 1.00. The results indicate a reasonably good fit of the observed data by the paired comparison model.

#### A Relative Scaling by Subgroups for Displays Mhen a Hazard Exists

The alternative displays were analyzed to see if any subgroups had different preferences. The results are shown in Figure 13. The results of all the subgroups are in general agreement, except for three minor exceptions. Those who drive over 12,500 miles per year and those age 20-29 rated the display " $(\widehat{TXP})$  CROSSING BLOCKED/STOP AHEAD" first. The display most preferred by all other subgroups was rated such a close second that any difference in results is minor. The third difference is that females interchanged the fourth and fifth rated displays. This difference is minor since the concern is with the more preferred displays.









The  $P'_{ij}$  versus  $P''_{ij}$  matrix was also plotted for all subgroups. The results of the plots are reflected in the least squares fit of the data which is shown in Table 13. The paired comparison model was a reasonable fit of the data for all categories of subgroups. There is no reason not to accept the results of the paired comparison analysis for all categories of subgroups.

#### An Absolute Scaling for Alternative Displays Muen a Hazard Exists

A rating scale was used to determine an absolute scale for the five alternative displays for an advance warning system when a hazard exists. The five displays were shown to the 259 respondents one at a time. They were asked to indicate, on a scale from one to seven, how acceptable they considered each alternative display, as shown in Figure 19. The higher the number indicated, the more acceptable the respondents considered the display.

The rating scale results are shown in Table 14. The display "IN TRACKS BLOCKED/STOP AHEAD" was considered to be very acceptable with a mean rating of 6.19 and a standard deviation of 1.08. Fifty percent of the respondents gave this display the highest rating of seven. Only 8.1 percent of the respondents gave the display a rating of four or less. Also rated very acceptable with a mean of 6.12 and a standard deviation of 1.12 was the display "IN CROSSING BLOCKED/STOP AHEAD." Forty-eight percent indicated a rating of seven and only 8.1 percent indicated a rating of four or less. These two alternatives are very similar in absolute preference.

TABLE 13. LEAST SQUARES FIT OF P' VERSUS P" BY CATEGORIES OF SUBGROUPS FOR ADVANCE WARNING SYSTEMS WHEN A HAZARD EXISTS AT A HIGHWAY-RAILWAY GRADE CROSSING

Categories of Subgroups	Intercept	Slope	Correlation
All Respondents	.0240	.9480	.9854
Males	.0232	.9546	.9393
Females	.0300	.9175	.9585
Age <20	.0352	.9275	.9747
Age 20-29	.0190	.9580	.9837
Age >29	.0200	.9483	.9888
Non-High School Graduates	.0243	.9315	.9741
High School Graduates	.0267	.9490	.9911
College Graduates	.0249	.9536	.9833
<7500 Miles	.0310	.9127	.9690
7500-12500 Miles	.0269	.9538	.9365
>12500 Miles	.2081	.9504	.9871



How acceptable is the message shown?

(Example Slide 1)

Example Slide 1



FIGURE 19. AN EXAMPLE OF THE RATING SCALE PRESENTATION FOR ALTERNATIVE DISPLAYS FOR ADVANCE WARNING SYSTEMS FOR HIGHWAY-RAILWAY GRADE CROSSINGS TABLE 14. THE MEAN, STANDARD DEVIATION, AND DISTRIBUTION OF RESPONSES FOR DISPLAYS WHEN A HAZARD EXISTS

1

Standard	Deviation	1.64	<b>1.</b> 49	1.08	1.12	<b>J.</b> 70
, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,	rlean	3.72	4.66	6.19	6.12	4.17
	2	16 (6.2)	. 29 (11.2)	129 (49.8)	125 (48,3)	30 (11,6)
	9	24 (9.3)	53 (20.5)	80 (30.5)	77 (29.8)	31 (12.0)
,UE	S	43 (16.6)	60 (23.2)	28 (10.8)	36(13,9)	49 (18.9)
ALE VAI	4	56 (21.6)	62 (23 <b>.</b> 9)	14 (5.4)	10 (3.9)	54 (20.8)
SC	3	45 (17.4)	36 (13.9)	<sup>4</sup> , (1.5)	8 (3.1)	47 (18.1)
	2	57 (22.0)	11 (4.2)	$^{2}_{(0,3)}$	2 (0.3)	34 (13.1)
-	1	17 (6.6)	8 (3.1)	(0,4)	1 (0.4)	14 (5.4)
011	Response	$1^{*}$ (0.4)**	0 (0*0)	1 (0.4)	1 (0.4)	0 (0•0)
TITCDIAV	TYTIOTO	Number 1	Number 2	Number 3	Number 4	Number 5

- = RR Ning/Stop Ahead
- = 💓 Tracks Blocked

- -

- 3 = (X) Tracks Blocked/Stop Ahead
- 4 = 🕅 Crossing Blocked/Stop Ahead
- 5 = Railroad Crossing/Tracks Blocked

\*Top number indicates number of responses.

\*\*Bottom number indicates percent of 259 total respondents.

The display " TRACKS BLOCKED" had a mean of 4.66 and a standard deviation of 1.49. Fifty-four percent of the respondents indicated ratings above four. This display could be considered as moderately acceptable. The display "RAILROAD CROSSING/TRACKS BLOCKED" could only be considered slightly acceptable. It had a mean of 4.17 and a standard deviation of 1.70. Forty-two percent of the respondents indicated a rating above four on the scale.

The display "RR Xing/STOP ANEAD" was considered unacceptable by the respondents. The mean rating was 3.72 and the standard deviation was 1.64. Fifty percent gave it a rating less than four and only thirty-two percent gave it a rating above four.

#### An Absolute Scaling by Subgroups for Displays Mien a Hazard Exists

The eleven categories of the four subgroups were again used to determine if any subgroups had different ratings for the display. The results are shown in Table 15. As can be seen, the results are in general agreement with the results for all respondents. The display " $\widehat{RR}$  TRACKS BLOCKED/STOP AHEAD" was rated very desirable by all subgroups. The average rating was above 6.00 for all categories of all subgroups.

A contingency test was also performed to determine if the distribution of responses was independent of the subgroup at an alpha level of 0.01. The results of the test are shown in Table 16. The hypothesis of independence was rejected for only one subgroup. Males considered the lowest ranked display, "RAILROAD CROSSING/TRACKS BLOCKED" as slightly more unacceptable than did the females.

TABLE 15.	ABSOLUTE	SCALES	BY SUI	BGROUPS	FOR DISP	LAYS FOR	R ADVANCE
	WARNING	SYSTEMS	WHEN	A HAZA	RD EXISTS	ΑΤ Α	
	HIG	GHWAY-RA	ILWAY	GRADE	CROSSING		

				*********	
				SUBC	ROUPS AND
DISPLAY	All Respon- dents (259)	Males (209)	Females (50)	Age <20 (94)	Age 20-29 (85)
1	3.72*	3.71	3.78	3.91	3,55
	(1.64)**	(1.69)	(1.42)	(1.52)	(1.69)
2	4.66	4.76	4.26	4.52	4.46
	(1.49)	(1.44)	(1.63)	(1.47)	(1.48)
3	6.19	6.18	6.20	6.17	6.09
	(1.08)	(1.08)	(1.07)	(1.03)	(1.16)
4	6.12	6.12	6.14	6.02	6.10
	(1.12)	(1.14)	(1.09)	(1.10)	(1.18)
5	4.17	4.18	4.14	4.54	3.88
	(1.70)	(1.73)	(1.56)	(1.58)	(1.63)

1 = RR\_Xing/Stop Ahead

Tracks Blocked

- 3 = 🕅 Tracks Blocked/Stop Ahead
- 4 = 🕅 Crossing Blocked/Stop Ahead
- 5 = Railroad Crossing/Tracks Blocked

\*Average rating.

2 =

\*\*Standard deviation.

NUMBER OF	RESPONDENTS					
Age >29 (80)	Non- H.S. Grads (88)	H.S. Grads (83)	College Grads (88)	<7500 Miles (87)	7500- 12500 Miles (76)	>12500 Miles (83)
· 3.69	4.11	3.36	3.68	3.67	3.92	3.37
(1.71)	(1.56)	(1.63)	(1.65)	(1.48)	(1.72)	(1.59)
5.04	4.51	4.81	4.67	4.60	4.74	4.76
(1.46)	(1.57)	(1.46)	(1.44)	(1.52)	(1.50)	(1.40)
6.30	6.17	6.22	6.17	6.30	6.13	6.12
(1.04)	(1.09)	(1.05)	(1.10)	(1.02)	(1.06)	(1.14)
6.26	6.02	6.13	6.22	5.99	6.28	6.10
(1.10)	(1.13)	(1.17)	(1.08)	(1.19)	(1.06)	(1.10)
4.04	4.69	3.90	3.90	4.39	4.12	3.88
(1.84)	(1.61)	(1.64)	(1.74)	(1.61)	(1.66)	(1.78)

TABLE 15, cont.

TABLE 16.	CONTINGENCY TESTS BY	SUBGROUPS F	OR DISPLAYS	FOR ADVANCE
	WARNING SYSTEMS WI	IEN A HAZARD	EXISTS AT A	
	HIGHWAY-RAILI	IAY GRADE CRO	SSING	

Display	Subgroups	Degrees of Freedom	Chi Square Calculated	Chi Square at .01	Reject Null Hypothesis?
1	Sex Age Education Miles	4 12 8 8	18.2 15.8 18.1 10.1	13.3 26.2 20.1 20.1	Yes No No No
2	Sex Age Education Miles	4 8 10 8	5.05 13.3 8.69 3.71	13.3 20.1 23.2 20.1	No No No No
3	Sex Age Education Miles	2 6 6 4	1.47 3.51 2.73 2.87	9.21 16.8 16.8 13.3	No No No
4	Sex Age Education Miles	2 6 6 4	1.16 11.9 14.3 11.8	9.21 16.8 16.8 13.3	No No No
5	Sex Age Educa <b>tio</b> n Miles	4 10 10 10	4.31 13.9 22.1 7.54	13.3 23.2 23.2 23.2 23.2	No No No No

1 = RR Xing/Stop Ahead

2 =

3 =

4 =

- Tracks Blocked
  - Tracks Blocked/Stop Ahead
- Crossing Blocked/Stop Ahead
- 5 = Railroad Crossing/Tracks Blocked

Mull Hypothesis: The distribution of responses is independent of the subgroup.

#### A Relative Scaling for Alternative Displays When No Hazard Exists

Five display alternatives were also selected for evaluation when no train was present and no imminent hazard existed. The alternatives are shown in Figure 20. One display was a "no information" alternative. That is, the sign was completely blank. Another alternative was only the identification of the hazard with no other information given. The remaining three alternatives gave positive information that no hazard exists.

The paired comparison technique was used to evaluate the relative acceptability of the five alternative displays. The results for the 259 respondents are shown in Figure 21. The most preferred display with a relative scale value of 1.78 was "(RRR) CROSSING CLEAR." A close second with a relative scale value of 1.73 was the display "(RRR) TRACKS CLEAR." These two displays parallel the most preferred alternatives for the condition when a train constitutes a hazard.

In third place was the display "RAILROAD CROSSING/TRACKS CLEAR" with a relative scale value of 0.86. This alternative is only half as desirable as the top rated alternatives. This again tends to indicate the preference for the standard symbol over the word message. The fourth rated display only contained the advance warning symbol "(), " and had a relative rating of 0.80. The least desirable alternative was no information of any kind. The relative scale value was 0.0. This indicates that drivers do wish to be told when no hazard exists.

The validity of the results was checked by plotting the observed proportions  $(P'_{ij})$  versus the calculated proportions  $(P''_{ij})$  based on the paired comparison model. The graph shown in Figure 22



CROSSING CLEAR



### TRACKS CLEAR

### RAILROAD CROSSING TRACKS CLEAR



FIGURE 20. DISPLAYS FOR ADVANCE WARNING SYSTEMS WHEN NO HAZARD EXISTS AT A HIGHWAY-RAILWAY GRADE CROSSING



FIGURE 21. A RELATIVE SCALING FOR ALTERNATIVE DISPLAYS FOR ADVANCE WARNING SYSTEMS WHEN NO HAZARD EXISTS AT A HIGHWAY-RAILWAY GRADE CROSSING





indicates a reasonable fit of the data. A least squares fit was also made of the P'<sub>ij</sub> versus P"<sub>ij</sub> data. The results were an intercept of 0.10, a slope of 0.86, and a correlation of 0.97. The results for a perfect fit would be 0.00, 1.00, and 1.00 respectively. The results are reasonable, but not as good as some of the other models previously discussed. The difficulty in obtaining a good fit is caused by most proportions being at extreme values. That is, some alternatives were highly preferred and some were highly not preferred. However, the relative positions on the scale are reasonable ones.

#### A Relative Scaling by Subgroups for Displays When No Hazard Exists

The alternative displays for the no hazard condition were also analyzed to see if any subgroups had different preferences. The results of all the subgroups are in general agreement, as shown in Figure 23, except for four minor exceptions. Those respondents age 20 to 29 and those who drive 7,500 to 12,500 miles preferred the " TRACKS CLEAR" display over the " CROSSING CLEAR" display. The results are opposite those for all other groups, but the actual scale separation in all cases is very small. The third and fourth differences concern the same two subgroups. The third and fourth preference of the 259 respondents is switched by these two subgroups. In all cases, the main concern is with the most preferred display, therefore reducing the importance of some of the scalings.

The P' versus P" matrix was plotted for all subgroups. These plots are not included since a least squares fit of the data indicates the same results. As shown in Table 17, the least squares fit



TABLE 17. LEAST SQUARES FIT OF  $P'_{ij}$  VERSUS  $P''_{ij}$  BY CATEGORIES OF SUBGROUPS FOR DISPLAYS FOR ADVANCE WARNING SYSTEMS WHEN NO HAZARD EXISTS AT A HIGHWAY-RAILWAY GRADE CROSSING

Categories of Subgroups	Intercept	Slope	Correlation
All Respondents	.0974	.8565	.9745
Males	.1068	.8427	.9667
Females	.0557	.8802	.9697
Age <20	<b>.1</b> 087	.8465	.9753
Age 20-29	.0745	.8806	.9724
Age >29	.1157	.8320	.9661
Non-High School Graduates	.1130	.8398	.9691
High School Graduates	.0576	.8979	.9745
College Graduates	.1048	.8498	.9730
<7500 Miles	.1044	.8512	.9742
7500-12500 Miles	.0632	.8945	.9385
>12500 Miles	.0833	.8790	.9899

indicates a reasonable, although not exceptionally good, fit of the observed data by the paired comparison models.

#### An Absolute Scaling for Alternative Displays When No Hazard Exists

Although the method of paired comparisons provided a relative scale of acceptability, the results did not indicate the degree of acceptability of the displays. A rating scale was, therefore, used to determine an absolute scale for the five alternative displays for the "no hazard" condition. The technique was the same as for the "hazard present" condition.

The results are shown in Table 18. The "OR CROSSING CLEAR" display was considered very acceptable with an average rating of 5.82 and a standard deviation of 1.17. Thirty-four percent of the 259 respondents indicated the maximum rating of seven, and 86 percent gave a rating greater than four. Also rated very acceptable with a mean of 5.68 and a standard deviation of 1.20 was the display "OR TRACKS CLEAR." Thirty-one percent indicated a rating of seven and 81 percent gave a rating above four.

The display "RAILROAD CROSSING/TRACKS CLEAR" received a rating of 4.13 and had a standard deviation of 1.59. Only six percent more of the respondents rated the display above four than did those who rated it below four. At best the display is slightly acceptable.

The remaining two displays were rated undesirable. The symbol  $(\overbrace{R})$  only display had a mean of 3.53 and a standard deviation of 1.64. Fifty-one percent of the respondents rated it less than four on the scale. The "no information" (blank) sign had a mean of 1.75 and a

TABLE 18. THE MEAN, STANDARD DEVIATION, AND DISTRIBUTION OF RESPONSES FOR ALTERNATIVE DISPLAYS FOR ADVANCE WARWING SYSTEMS WHEN NO HAZARD EXISTS AT A HIGHWAY-RAILWAY GRADE CROSSING

	0			S(	IVA ALE	UE			11	Standard
INTACTO	Response		61	С	4	Ś	9	7	rican	Deviation
Number 1	2* (0.8)**	(0°0) • 0	(0,8)	9 (3.5)	37 (14.3)	54 (20.8)	75 (29 <b>.</b> 0)	80 (30 <b>.</b> 9)	5.63	1,20
Number 2	1 (0.4)	0.0)	2 (0.8)	13 (5.0)	19 (7.3)	50 (19.3)	86 (33.2)	88 (34 <b>.</b> 0)	5.82	1.17
Number 3	1 (0.4)	14 (5.4)	29 (11.2)	47 (18.1)	62 (23.9)	49 (18.9)	39 (15.1)	18 (6.9)	4.13	1.59
Number 4	0)	190 (73.4)	22 (8,5)	15 (5.8)	12 (4.6)	4 (1.5)	5 (1.9)	11 (4.2)	1.75	1.56 .
Number 5	1 (0.4)	27 (10.4)	49 (18.9)	58 (22.4)	58 (22.4)	33 (12.7)	16 (6.2)	17 (6.6)	3.53	1,64
$1 = \bigotimes_{T_1} T_1$	racks Clear									

- Crossing Clear 2 ==
- 3 = Railroad Crossing/Tracks Clear
- (blank) 4 = 4
- (No Nessage)

\*Top number indicates the number of responses.

\*\*Bottom number indicates percent of 259 total respondents.

standard deviation of 1.56. Seventy-three percent of the respondents rated it as one, the lowest possible score. Only 7.7 percent of the respondents rated it above four. The respondents definitely desire information, even when no hazard exists.

#### An Absolute Scaling by Subgroups for Displays Mien No Hazard Exists

The same categories of subgroups were again used to determine if any subgroups had different feelings concerning the alternative displays when no hazard exists. The results are shown in Table 19. The displays " $\widehat{K}$  CROSSING CLEAR" and " $\widehat{K}$  TRACKS CLEAR" are considered very acceptable by the eleven categories of the four subgroups. In all eleven cases for each display the average rating was greater than 5.50. As can be seen the results are in general agreement for all subgroups.

A contingency test was also performed to determine if the distribution of responses were independent of the subgroup at an alpha level of .01. The hypothesis of independence was not rejected for any of the subgroups as shown in Table 20.

#### Summary

Alternative displays were evaluated for the situations when a hazard exists at a grade crossing as the result of the presence of a train and also when no hazard exists. The two displays, " $\overbrace{X}$  TRACKS BLOCKED/STOP AHEAD" and " $\overbrace{X}$  CROSSING BLOCKED/STOP AHEAD" were so closely rated that both alternatives are acceptable.

For the alternative situation when no hazard exists, the two displays, "(R) CROSSING CLEAR" and "(R) TRACKS CLEAR" were so
TABLE 19.	ABSOLUTE SCALES BY SUBGROUPS FOR DISPLAYS FOR ADVA	INCE
	WARNING SYSTEMS WHEN NO HAZARD EXISTS AT A	
	HIGHWAY-RAILWAY GRADE CROSSING	

	and the state of the	**********				
	SUBGROUPS AND					
DISPLAY	All Respon- dents (259)	Males (209)	Females (50)	Age <20 (94)	Age 20-29 (85)	
1	5.68*	5.57	6.10	5.56	5.62	
	(1.20)**	(1.23)	(0.95)	(1.22)	(1.20)	
2	5.82	5.73	6.20	5.80	5.73	
	(1.17)	(1.21)	(0.91)	(1.06)	(1.32)	
3	4.13	4.05	4.46	4.32	3.88	
	(1.59)	(1.62)	(1.42)	(1.64)	(1.43)	
4	1.75	1.82	1.46	1.82	1.90	
	(1.56)	(1.65)	(1.09)	(1.80)	(1.62)	
5	3.53	3.52	3.56	3.50	3.73	
	(1.64)	(1.69)	(1.42)	(1.73)	(1.76)	

$$1 = \mathbf{R}$$

2 =

R Tracks Clear

Crossing Clear

3 = Railroad Crossing/Tracks Clear

4 = (blank)

\*Average rating.

\*\*Standard deviation,

NUMBER OF	RESPONDENTS					
Age >29 (80)	Non- H.S. Grads (88)	H.S. Grads (83)	College Grads (88)	<7500 Miles (87)	7500- 12500 Miles (76)	>12500 Miles (85)
5.87	5,51	5.79	5.74	5.77	5,59	5.70
(1.17)	(1,26)	(1.19)	(1.14)	(1.02)	(1,25)	(1.31)
5.94	5.76	5.77	5.92	5.80	5.86	5.73
(1.14)	(1.12)	(1.30)	(1.11)	(1.07)	(1.19)	(1.31)
4.18	4.42	3.89	4.07	4.17	4.37	3.77
(1.68)	(1.71)	(1.48)	(1.54)	(1.69)	(1.53)	(1.54)
1.51	1.90	1.57	1.78	1.68	1.76	1.69
(1.12)	(1.86)	(1.28)	(1.47)	(1.61)	(1.45)	(1.41)
3.35	3.54	3.44	3.60	3.68	3.43	3.42
(1.37)	(1.76)	(1.59)	(1.56)	(1.74)	(1.53)	(1.60)

TABLE 19, cont.

# TABLE 20. CONTINGENCY TESTS BY SUBGROUPS FOR DISPLAYS FOR ADVANCE WARNING SYSTEMS WHEN NO HAZARD EXISTS AT A HIGHWAY-RAILWAY GRADE CROSSING

Display	Subgroups	Degrees of Freedom	Chi Square Calculated	Chi Square at .01	Reject Null Hỳpothesis?
1	Sex Age Education Miles	. 2 6 6 6	6.70 5.29 3.16 7.92	9.21 16.8 16.8 9.21	No No No No
2	Sex Age Education Miles	2 6 6 6	6.02 9.35 11.5 9.99	9.21 16.3 16.8 16.8	No No No
3	Sex Age Education Miles	4 8 8 8	4.61 9.42 10.2 11.6	13.3 20.1 20.1 20.1	No No No
4	Sex Age Education Miles	1 2 2 2	.221 2.77 1.34 2.03	6.63 9.21 9.21 9.21 9.21	No No No No
5	Sex Age Education Niles	3 6 8 10	7.96 9.23 9.39 3.97	11.3 16.8 20.1 23.2	No No No

1 = (RXR) Tracks Clear

- 2 = R Crossing Clear
- 3 = Railroad Crossing Clear
- 4 = (blank)

5 ≕

(No Message)

Null Hypothesis: The distribution of responses is independent of the subgroup.

closely rated that both alternatives are acceptable.

Using the results of this research, one can now design an advance warning system for highway-railway grade crossings. It has been found that a changeable message advance warning sign is a very acceptable method of providing advance warning at highway-railway grade crossings. The necessary displays have also been evaluated for the condition when a hazard exists and when no hazard exists. The next logical step is the design of an advance warning system for highwayrailway grade crossings.

# CHAPTER VIII. TYPICAL INSTALLATIONS OF AN ADVANCE WARNING SYSTEM FOR HIGHWAY-RAILWAY

GRADE CROSSINGS

The final objective of the research was to design and cost a new advance warning system for railroad grade crossings. In order to meet these objectives, consideration was given first to the necessary equipment, sign location, letter height, and control logic. Next, two locations were selected for preliminary designs. Finally, an estimate of the cost of installation was made for two locations and an estimate was made of the possible benefits that may be derived from the new advance warning system.

### Equipment

As a result of the research in Chapters VI and VII, the messages "INTRACKS BLOCKED/STOP AHEAD" and "INTRACKS CLEAR" were the messages selected to be used in the actual field installations. The first message is for the condition when a hazard exists, and the second is for the condition when no hazard exists. Both messages were rated very desirable by the 259 respondents. The messages are shown in Figure 17 and Figure 23.

Three types of signs were selected for consideration. They were blankout signs, Varicon brand signs, and matrix signs. The blankout sign allows for the alternate display of either a message or a

blank sign. However, since the research indicated that a message was needed even when no hazard existed, this type of sign was not suitable.

The National Advertising Company, a subsidiary of the Minnesota Mining and Manufacturing Company (3M), manufactures a Varicon brand traffic control and communication system. The Varicon sign is a changeable message sign which presents visual displays to the motorist. The Varicon sign can present up to eight alternative displays of words, symbols, or both. A special retro-reflective system is used to provide proper daytime backlighting from scattered skylight and an intense retro-reflective illumination at night from vehicle headlights. At present, this sign is available with a maximum message area of four feet by five feet. This message area is not adequate for the necessary messages used in this research. Until the message area is increased, the Varicon sign is not adequate for the displays used in this research.

The third alternative was a matrix sign. An example of a matrix sign is the time and temperature signs seen at many banks. This type of sign can be made to either display any message up to a given length or can be specially designed to display specific messages. An example of the use of a specialized display is the "OPEN/CLOSED" sign used to indicate the status at truck weighing stations.

The variable matrix sign was considered appropriate for use at railroad grade crossings. Two manufacturers were contacted to obtain informal price quotations. Winko-Matic Signal Company of Avon Lake, Ohio submitted prices on a sign that could display any message up to a given length. Bell and Gustus of Chicago, Illinois submitted prices on

signs specially made to display only the required messages.

The actual signs to be used would be made in two parts. The round advance warning sign would be an illuminated area that would always be the same. The remainder of the sign would be a two-line matrix area. The top line of the matrix area would display "TRACKS BLOCKED" in amber and the bottom line "STOP AHEAD" in flashing red whenever a hazard existed. Alternatively, when no hazard exists, the top line would be "TRACKS CLEAR" in amber and the bottom line would be blank.

As the result of discussions with the Indiana State Highway Commission engineers, another problem came to light after the research had begun. The problem is accidents caused by vehicles required by law to stop at all grade crossings even when automatic protection indicates that no hazard exists. It was considered desirable at some crossings to provide a warning to drivers that a vehicle was stopped. Therefore, a third alternative message, denoted as Option #2, was considered for use at some crossings. The first line of the third message would be "TRUCK STOPPED" in amber, and the second line would be "REDUCE SPEED" in flashing red. This message was not a result of this research, but does utilize the experience gained from the research.

### Sign Location and Letter Size

The location of the sign and size of the letters was determined as follows. The sign was to be located such that 85 percent of all vehicles could come to a comfortable stop given that all perception and reaction took place prior to reaching the sign. The deceleration distance was derived based on three seconds of in-gear deceleration and a

braking deceleration rate of from 4.0 mph/sec at 30 mph to 6.0 mph/sec at 80 mph. Table 21 shows the design distance for speeds from 30 to 80 mph.

TABLE 21. DECELERATION DISTANCE REQUIRED FOR VARIOUS APPROACH SPEEDS

Approach Speed	Deceleration · Distance to Stop
30	275
40	400
50	525
60	675
70	825
80	975

Another consideration is size of letters. With an overhead sign, 15 feet is a minimum clearance and 20 feet is an approximate necessary maximum height (for 16-inch letters). Using 8° as a maximum visual vertical angle, the last 200 feet of distance is basically not usable since the sign cannot be readily seen.

Assuming 70 mph as a maximum approach speed at any rural crossing, the following values are generally accepted as reasonable (1):

PIEV Time--2.5 seconds

Reading Time--2.5 seconds

Therefore, a total reaction and reading distance of 500 feet is required. The message would therefore have to be visible 200 plus 500, or a total of 700 feet. The minimum letter height is 14 inches assuming 50 feet of visibility for every inch of letter height.

For variable matrix signs, 16 inches is a practical minimum for good readability. Therefore, a 16-inch letter height would be the standard sign up to and including 70 mph approach speeds.

# Control Logic

3-

An examination will be made of the control logic presently used for automatic protection. Limitations will be shown for the commonly used simple track circuit. The rationale for a 20-second minimum warning will also be considered. Finally, the control logic for a variable message sign will also be discussed.

It could be argued that poor compliance for flashers has arisen from the large amount of warning time provided at many crossings. The detection equipment provided at many crossings only has the capability to sense the presence of a train once it enters the track circuitry. The circuit is therefore made long enough to provide 20 seconds of advance warning for the fastest train. However, if this type of circuitry is used where the speed of the fastest train is three times the slowest train (e.g., a 60 mph passenger train and a 20 mph freight), then up to 60 seconds of warning is provided. This is not an uncommon occurrence. It is easy to see how non-compliance will result with a 60-second warning. Therefore, it is recommended that detection equipment used in conjunction with variable message signs provide no more than a 50 percent increase in warning time for slow trains or an absolute maximum of 30 seconds.

It is also enlightening to examine the rationality of a constant 20-second minimum warning. Let us look at the amount of time, T, required for a vehicle to clear the crossing:

$$T = P + \frac{1}{2} \frac{u}{a} + \left(\frac{w + \ell}{v}\right)$$

where

P = perception reaction time in seconds, v = approach speed in feet per second, a = deceleration rate in feet per second per second, w = width of crossing,

l = length of vehicle.

Next, look at the time necessary using conservative values and a design speed of 80 mph. The time, T, is 10.8 seconds when:

P = 3.0 seconds, v = 120 ft/sec, a = 8.8 ft/sec/sec, w = 60 feet, and l = 60 feet.

Looking at slow speeds, for v = 45 ft/sec (30 mph) and a comfortable rate of deceleration of 5.9 ft/sec/sec, then T = 9.4 seconds. It becomes evident that 20 seconds is more than adequate for all situations.

The next question concerns when the advance warning sign should be activated. Two reasonable alternatives exist for the time of activation. The first alternative is prior to the activation of the crossing signals and the second alternative is at the same time.

The logic for advance activation of the advance warning sign is to allow vehicles which just pass the sign at the time of activation to clear the crossing. The main drawback is that if the flashers do not come on shortly after the advance warning signs, confusion might arise from those drivers seeing the advance notice but not the flashers.

The second alternative is to provide simultaneous activation of both sign and signals. For the driver who has passed the sign, but sees the flashers, enough time should be provided to clear the crossing.

It would appear that the second alternative, simultaneous activation, should be the method used. Again, examination of the warning time is necessary for slow moving vehicles. For a 70 mph approach speed, the sign is located 825 feet from the crossing. With 20 seconds of warning, any vehicle traveling 45 ft/sec (30 mph) would clear the crossing. This is reasonable for 70 mph approach speeds. For 30 mph approach speeds, any vehicle traveling at least 13 mph would clear the crossing.

It would appear that 20 seconds of warning be the minimum and 30 seconds the maximum. The 30-second maximum is provided for a tolerance, with 20 seconds being the recommended value.

The provision of variable message advance warning signs should only be made with detection equipment meeting the above requirement. Modernization should be made prior to installations not meeting the 20 to 30 second criteria.

# Location Selection

The Indiana Highway Commission and several railroads operating in Indiana indicated five locations they felt deserved additional protection. These crossings were not the result of an extensive evaluation of crossings in Indiana. It was only desired to select one or two

crossings that justified improvement so that a preliminary design and cost estimates could be made.

The two main criteria for the selection of a suitable crossing were location and accident experience. The grade crossing protection system resulting from this research is primarily intended for highspeed rural locations. The second consideration was the accident experience at the crossings. Crossings selected would have to have a consistently poor accident record.

After collection of the necessary accident data and field visits, two locations were selected for consideration as pilot sites. The first crossing is on U.S. 20 at the Chesapeake and Ohio (C & O) Railroad crossing in Porter County. The second crossing is on U.S. 31 at the Norfolk and Western (N & W) Railroad crossing in Tipton County. The locations of both crossings are indicated on the map of Indiana shown in Figure 24. The general characteristics of the locations are summarized in Table 22.

The accident experience for the two locations is shown in Table 23. The cost of fatal and personal injury accidents were based on figures developed by Hejal (16) for rural Indiana highways. Hejal estimated the cost of fatal accidents at \$18,000 and the cost of personal injury accidents at \$4,300. These costs reflect hospital costs, doctor's costs, legal and court costs, and miscellaneous costs such as loss of vehicle and personal time. Voorhees (26) indicates figures of \$20,000 for one death, \$5,000 for one non-fatal injury accident, and \$1,000 for a property damage accident. It is therefore reasonable to use the cost developed by Hejal. The cost of accidents



TABLE 22. GENERAL CHARACTERISTICS OF PILOT LOCATIONS

· · · ·	<u>U.S. 20</u>	U.S. 31
Type Facility	4-lane Undivided	4-1ane Divided
Location	Rural	Rural
Lane Width	10 ft.	12 ft.
Median	None	66 ft.
Terrain	Rolling	Leve1
Speed Limit	55 mph	65 mph
85th Percentile Speed	55 mph	66 mph
15th Percentile Speed	40 mph	50 mph
ADT	18,000	10,000

TABLE 23. ACCIDENT EXPERIENCE AT PILOT LOCATIONS

	U.S. 20	U.S. 31
Accident Years	1966-1970	1968-1970
Fatal Accidents	0	2
Personal Injury Accidents	8	2
Property Damage Accidents	8	2
Total Property Damage	\$ 30,500	\$ 62,000
Total Accident Cost (est.)	\$ 64,900	\$ <b>107,</b> 800
Total Cost Divided by Number of Years	\$ <b>13,</b> 000	\$ 39,000

at both crossings are summarized in Table 23. The U.S. 20 crossing had a total cost of \$64,900 over a five-year period and the U.S. 31 had a total cost of \$39,000 over a three-year period.

## Cost Estimates

Estimates of the costs of installing an advance warning system were made for both pilot crossings. Price estimates were obtained for both Option #1 and Option #2. Option #1 is the two message sign that was the result of the attitudinal research. Option #2 is the three message sign that includes an additional message to warn drivers of vehicles required by law to always stop. This second option was the result of consultations with the Indiana State Highway Commission.

Winko-Matic submitted a unit price of \$10,850 for both the two message and three message signs. The price is a direct function of the length of the longest message since each individual matrix can display any number or letter. Bell & Gustus submitted unit costs of \$3,500 for the two message option and \$4,800 for the three message option. These signs were made only to display the required message, and the price is therefore a function of the number of messages displayed. The saving in the Bell & Gustus signs results from fewer lamps, simpler wiring, and simpler control logic. The Bell & Gustus signs were chosen for use because of the cost savings and a potential savings in maintenance costs due to the less complicated control logic and fewer parts.

The other fixed costs at all sites are the sign control equipment and the advance warning railroad sign to be mounted next to the variable message sign. The control equipment for the two message Option #1 was estimated at \$150 per sign. For Option #2, the three message sign, the unit cost was estimated at \$625. The added cost for Option #2 was for a presence detector and timer to activate the three message sign when a vehicle was stopped at the crossing and no other hazard existed. This estimate was based on a loop detector, although other means could be used. The round railroad signs were estimated at a unit cost of \$250.

The remainder of the costs are a function of the individual locations. These variable costs are the sign support, the length of conduit and wire, and guardrail (if required). The sign support cost is a function of the span required. The conduit and wire cost is a function of the approach speed which determines how far the sign is located from the crossing. Guardrail is required if the sign support cannot be located 30 feet or more from the traveled way.

### U.S. 20 and C & O Railroad Crossing

The U.S. 20 and C & O railroad crossing was one of two selected as a pilot location. The actual geometrics of the location are shown in Figure 25. The highway is an old four-lane undivided highway with ten-foot lanes. Vision is obscured in both directions. An eastbound curve ends approximately 1,000 feet before the crossing. Westbound vision is hindered by the crest of a small hill also located about 1,000 feet from the crossing.

Improved advance warning could possibly reduce accidents at this crossing. An overhead sign located 600 feet east of the crossing would provide visibility up to the limits of the size of the message letters. A sign located 600 feet west of the crossing would provide 750 feet of visibility. Possibly a supplemental sign would be

FIGURE 25. GEOMETRICS AND ADVANCE WARNING SYSTEM LOCATION FOR U.S. 20 AND C & O RAILROAD CROSSING

.







desirable to call attention to the variable message sign since visibility is less than optimum. Both sign locations were based on a 55 mph approach speed.

The total installation cost for the U.S. 20 crossing is shown in Table 24. The total cost is \$33,300 for the two message option and \$36,500 for the three message option. It was assumed that the system life was ten years with no salvage value. An interest rate of 10 percent was used. The annual equipment cost is therefore \$5,420 for Option #1 and \$5,997 for Option #2. Annual maintenance cost is estimated at \$1,000 for both options. Therefore, the total annual cost is \$6,420 for Option #1 and \$6,997 for Option #2.

# U.S. 31 and N & W Railroad Crossing

The second pilot location was the N & W railroad crossing on U.S. 31 near Tipton, Indiana. The actual geometrics are shown in Figure 26. The crossing is located on a level tangent of a four-lane divided highway with 12-foot lanes. Immediately south of the crossing is the intersection of a low volume paved county road. One half mile south of the crossing is a signalized intersection.

An improved advance warning system for highway-railway grade crossings could possibly reduce accidents at this crossing which has had a bad accident record. The changeable message advance warning signs would be located 825 feet prior to the crossing for a 70 mph design speed. The signs could be located such that no guardrail would be necessary.

Table 25 shows the breakdown of the total cost of installation. The total cost for Option #1 is \$25,000 and the total cost for Option

# TABLE 24. COST ESTIMATE FOR AN ADVANCE WARNING SYSTEM AT THE U.S. 20 AND C & O RAILROAD CROSSING

Item	Unit Cost	Total Cost Option #1	Total Cost Option #2
2Two Message Signs, Option #1	\$ 3,500	\$ 7,000	\$
2Three Message Signs, Option #2	4,800		9,600
2Control Cabinets, Option #1	150	300	` <del></del>
2Control Cabinets, Option #2	.625		1,250
2Monotube Sign Supports	3,000	6,000	6,000
Guardrail1200 lft.	10	12,000	12,000
Conduit and Wire1500 lft.	5	7,500	7,500
2Railroad Signs	250	500	500
TOTAL		\$33,300	\$36,850
Annual Equipment Cost (10 years at 10 percent)		\$ 5 <b>,</b> 420	\$ 5,997
Annual Maintenance Cost		1,000	1,000
TOTAL ANNUAL COST		\$ 6,420	\$6,997

.

.



FIGURE 26. GEOMETRICS AND ADVANCE WARNING SYSTEM LOCATION FOR U.S. 31 AND N & W RAILROAD GRADE CROSSING

# TABLE 25. COST ESTIMATE FOR AN ADVANCE WARNING SYSTEM AT THE U.S. 31 AND N & W RAILROAD CROSSING

Item	Unit Cost	Total Cost Option #1	Total Cost Option #2
2Two Message Signs, Option #1	\$ 3,500	\$ 7,000	\$ —
2Three Message Signs, Option #2	4,800		9,600
2Control Cabinets, Option #1	150	300	
2Control Cabinets, Option #2	625		1,250
2Monotube Sign Supports	3,000	6,000	6,000
Conduit and Wire1700 lft,	5	8,500	8,500
2Railroad Signs	250	500	500
TOTAL		\$25 <b>,</b> 000	\$ <b>30,35</b> 0
Annual Equipment Cost (10 years at 10 percent)		\$ 4,069	\$ 4,939
Annual Maintenance Cost		1,000	1,000
TOTAL ANNUAL COST		\$ 5,069	\$ 5,939

#2 is \$30,350. Assuming a ten-year life with no salvage value, the annual equipment cost at a 10 percent interest rate is \$4,069 for Option #1, and \$4,939 for Option #2. Maintenance costs are estimated at \$1,000 per year for both options. Therefore, the total annual cost is \$5,069 for Option #1 and \$5,939 for Option #2.

It can be seen that a large variation in total cost is possible. For the two pilot locations, the total cost ranged from \$25,000 to nearly \$37,000 for the installation. The cost will vary depending on the geometrics of the particular location.

### Possible Benefits

A benefit analysis is difficult because the effectiveness of this new system is unknown. We can, however, look at the amount of accident reduction necessary to pay for the cost of the new system. That is, if a 100 percent reduction in accidents is necessary to pay for the system, it is not likely to be successful based on accident reduction.

The analysis will be based on the higher cost Option #2. It was shown that the average accident costs for a five-year period at the U.S. 20 location was nearly \$13,000 per year. The annual total cost of the new advance warning system (Option #2) is nearly \$7,000. Therefore, a 54 percent reduction in accidents would produce a benefit/cost ratio of one. An installation at this location would appear reasonable to evaluate the effectiveness of the system.

The U.S. 31 location had an annual average accident cost of \$39,000 for a three-year period. The annual total cost of the new advance warning system installation (Option #2) would be nearly \$6,000.

Therefore, a 15 percent accident reduction would result in a benefit/cost ratio of one. This location also appears to warrant a pilot project to evaluate the effectiveness of the proposed warning system.

The purpose of this simplified analysis was only to show that possible benefits could exceed the cost of the installations. This was shown to be the case at both locations. It is also believed that other locations in Indiana would justify improvement based on the cost of accidents.

#### Summary

An examination was made of the necessary equipment to present the alternative displays to the drivers for the advance warning system. A variable matrix sign was selected as being suitable for this project. The location of the sign was determined as a function of approach speed. Sixteen-inch letters were selected as suitable up to 70 mph approach speeds. An examination of the twenty-second warning time showed that it was more than adequate at all speeds up to 80 mph. Two locations were selected as pilot projects based on accident experience. An evaluation of the annual costs of the system indicated that it would be desirable to test the new system at the two pilot locations.

### CHAPTER IX. CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

### Conclusions

It has been shown that railroad grade crossings are considered by the respondents to be more hazardous than signalized intersections, 'yield controlled intersections, crossroads, and curves. However, the respondents consider only four of the six highway situations to be even moderately hazardous. An analysis using four subgroups resulted in the same conclusions as were made for the 259 respondents.

The improvement of the safety at railroad grade crossings was considered very important by the 259 respondents. The respondents also considered it important that highway taxes be spent on the improvement of road surfaces, and the improvement of the maintenance of painted lines. A moderately important priority was given to the improvement of directional signs and the provision of emergency telephones. The installation of more traffic signals was rated indifferent. The improvement of roadside rest areas and the mowing of grass along the sides of highways were both rated as relatively unimportant.

The overhead changeable message sign was the most preferred advance warning system by all 259 respondents. It was also considered to be very desirable by all the subgroups. In-car devices were rated lower than present flashers. The least preferred method of warning is a passive sign that indicates the same warning at all times.

Alternative displays were evaluated for the situations when a hazard exists at a grade crossing as the result of the presence of a train and also when no hazard exists. The two messages, " $\mathcal{F}$  TRACKS BLOCKED/STOP AHEAD" and " $\mathcal{F}$  CROSSING BLOCKED/STOP AHEAD" were so closely rated that both alternatives are acceptable.

For the alternative situation when no hazard exists, the two messages, "RR CROSSING CLEAR" and "RR TRACKS CLEAR" were so closely rated that both alternatives are acceptable.

An examination was made of the necessary equipment to present the alternative displays to the drivers. A variable matrix sign was selected as being suitable for this project. The location of the sign was determined as a function of approach speed. Sixteen-inch letters were selected as suitable up to 70 mph approach speeds. An examination of the twenty-second warning time showed that it was more than adequate at all speeds up to 80 mph. Two locations were selected as pilot projects based on accident experience. An evaluation of the annual costs of the system indicated that it would be desirable to test the new system at the two pilot locations.

### Recommendations for Further Research

Three recommendations for further research are made as the result of this research:

1. Identify those railroad grade crossings with automatic protection that still have high accident rates.

2. Implement advance warning systems as designed in this research at several crossings identified in recommendation one.

3. Evaluate all aspects of the field installations resulting from recommendation two.

The crossings should be selected from the nearly 200 railroad crossings on the Indiana State Highway System having an index of more than 50,000 based on the product of the number of trains and motor vehicles per day. The crossings, in order of decreasing index, would be evaluated based on general feasibility and accident experience. An economic analysis should be run based on the previous five years' accident experience. The results of this research would be the identification of crossings requiring additional protection.

Two crossings have already been identified for immediate improvement as the result of this research. Several other installations should also be made in order to properly evaluate the effects of the proposed advance warning system. The evaluation should include all aspects of this research. The basic equipment and alternative detection equipment must be evaluated. The theoretical basis for the location of the sign must be confirmed or revised. Actual driver response to these signs should be evaluated to see if the sign is as effective as the attitudinal research indicates. The final result would hopefully be an effective system to reduce accidents at many highway-railway grade crossings.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

#### BIBLIOGRAPHY

- 1. Baerwald, John E., ed., <u>Traffic Engineering Handbook</u>, Institute of Traffic Engineers, Washington, D.C., 1965.
- Bauer, Herbert J., "A Case Study of Demand-Responsive Transportation System," <u>General Motors Research Laboratories Publication</u> <u>GMR-1034</u>, 1970.
- 3. Bell, F. L., "Human Engineering for Traffic Safety," <u>Traffic</u> Engineering, Vol. 24, October 1953.
- 4. Benzinger, R. W. and E. Bell, "Experimental Route Guidance Head-Up Display Research," <u>Highway Research Record</u> 265, 1968.
- 5. Berg, W. D., Evaluation of Safety at Railroad Grade Crossings in Urban Areas, Purdue University, M.S. Thesis, January 1967.
- Bezkorvainy, George, <u>Optimum Hazard Index Formula for Railroad</u> Crossing Protection for Lincoln, Nebraska, Presented at 1967 Annual Meeting of ITE.
- Covault, Donald O. and Robert W. Bownes, "A Study of the Feasibility of Using Roadside Radio Communications for Traffic Control and Driver Information," Highway Research Record 49, 1963.
- Covault, Donald O., Turgart Dervish, and Andrew C. Kanen, "A Study of Feasibility of Using Roadside Communications for Traffic Control and Driver Information," <u>Highway Research Record 202</u>, 1967.
- 9. Dudek, Conrad L. and Dannie Cummings, "Application of Commercial Radio to Freeway Communications--A Study of Driver Attitudes," <u>Texas Transportation Institute Report Number 139-3</u>, College Station, Texas, 1970.
- Dudek, Conrad L. and Hal B. Jones, "Real-Time Information Needs for Urban Freeway Drivers, Texas Transportation Institute Research Report Number 139-4, College Station, Texas, 1970.
- 11. Federal Railroad Administration, Department of Transportation, "Rail-Highway Grade Crossing Accidents for the Year Ended December 31, 1969."

- 12. "GM Experiments with New Road-Vehicle Communications Dubbed DAIR," Highway Research News, Number 24, Summer, 1966.
- 13. Guilford, J. P., Psychometric Methods--Second Edition, McGraw-Hill Book Company, Inc., New York, 1954.
- Heathington, K. W., On the Development of a Freeway Driver Information System, Northwestern University, unpublished Ph.D. dissertation, June 1969.
- 15. Heathington, K. W. and R. D. Worrall, "An Evaluation of the Priorities with the Provision of Traffic Information in Real-Time," HRB, in press, 1970.
- 16. Hejal, S. S., "An Economic Priority Model for Rural Highway Improvements," Joint Highway Research Project Report 28, December 1970.
- Hoff, Gerald C., "A Comparison Between Selected Traffic Information Devices," <u>Chicago Area Expressway Surveillance Project Report</u> <u>22</u>, Chicago, October 1969.
- Hoff, Gerald C., "Development and Evaluation of Experimental Information Signs," <u>Chicago Area Expressway Surveillance Project</u> Report 18, December 1965.
- 19. Indiana State Police Accident Records Division, "Accident Reports."
- 20. MacGillivray, C. I., <u>A Study of Billboards and Junkyards as</u> Related to Some Aspects of the Aesthetics of the Highway Environment, Purdue University, M.S. Thesis, August 1969.
- 21. Mosteller, Fredrick, "Remarks on the Method of Paired Comparisons --A Test of Significance for Paired Comparisons When Equal Standard Deviations and Equal Correlations are Assumed," Psychometrika, Volume 16, Number 2, 1951.
- National Joint Committee on Uniform Traffic Control Devices, "Manual on Uniform Traffic Control Devices," U.S. Department of Commerce, Washington, D.C., June 1961.
- 23. Schultz, T. G., Evaluation of Safety at Railroad Highway Grade Crossings, Purdue University, Ph.D. Thesis, August 1965.
- Trabold, William G. and Thomas A. Prewitt, "A Design for an Experimental Route Guidance System," <u>Highway Research Record 265</u>, 1968.
- 25. Thurston, L. L., <u>The Measurement of Values</u>, The University of Chicago Press, 4th Impression, Chicago, 1967.

 Voorhees and Associates, "Factors Influencing Safety at Highway-Rail Grade Crossings," Highway Research Board, <u>NCHRP Report 50</u>, Washington, 1968.

### General References

- American Association of State Highway Officials, <u>A Policy on Geometric</u> Design of Rural Highways, Washington, D.C., 1965.
- Association of American Railroads, Bulletin No. 6, <u>Railroad-Highway</u> Grade Crossing Protection, Washington, D.C., 1966.
- Backstrom, Charles Herbert and Gerald D. Hursh, Survey Research, Northwestern University Press, Chicago, Illinois, 1963.
- Bock, Richard Darrell and Lyle V. Jones, The Measurement and Prediction of Judgement and Choice, Holden-Day, San Francisco, 1968.
- Crespi, Irving, Attitude Research, American Marketing Association, Chicago, 1965.
- "Crossing Protection at Low Cost," <u>Railway Age</u>, Volume 163, Number 18, November 13, 1967.
- Decker, J. D., "Highway Sign Studies--Virginia 1960," <u>Highway Research</u> Board Proceedings, 40th Annual Meeting, Volum3 40, 1961.
- Edwards, A. L., <u>Techniques of Attitude Scale Construction</u>, Appleton-Century-Crofts, New York, 1957.
- Edwards, Allen Louis, Experimental Design in Psychological Research, Holt, Rinehart, and Winston, New York, 1968.
- Federal Highway Administration, "See Need for New Approach to Rail Crossing Safety," Department of Transportation News, August 17, 1969.
- Forbes, T. W. and M. S. Katz, Summary of Human Engineering Research Data and Principles Related to Highway Design and Traffic Engineering Problems, American Institute for Research, Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania, 30 April 1957.
- Goode, William J. and Paul K. Hatt, Methods in Social Research, McGraw-Hill, New York, 1952.
- Grant, E. L. and W. G. Ireson, Principles of Engineering Economy, The Ronald Press Company, New York, Fifth Edition, 1970.
- Hubert, S. F., "Human Factors and Traffic Engineering," Institute of Traffic Engineers, <u>Traffic Engineering</u>, Volume 38, Number 12, September 1968.

- Hyman, Herbert Hiram, Survey Design and Analysis, The Free Press, Glencoe, Illinois, 1955.
- Jackman, W. T., "Driver Obedience to Stop and Slow Signs," <u>Highway</u> <u>Research Board Bulletin 161, 1957.</u>
- Juster, F. T., Consumer Buying Intentions and Purchase Probability, National Bureau of Economic Research, Columbia University Press, New York, 1966.
- Kisl, L., Survey Sampling, John Wiley and Sons, Inc., New York, 1965.
- Levin, J. G., "The Highway Railroad Grade Crossing Improvement Program," American Highways, Volume 49, Number 3, July 1970.
- Manning, Sidney A. and Edward H. Rosenstock, <u>Classical Psychophysics</u> and Scaling, McGraw-Hill, New York, 1968.
- Matson, T. M., W. S. Smith, and F. W. Hurd, <u>Traffic Engineering</u>, McGraw-Hill Book Company, New York, 1955.
- Mauer, R. W., "Merits of Various Types of Highway-Railway Grade Crossing Protection," <u>American Railway Engineering Association</u> <u>Bulletin</u>, Number 623, November 1969.
- "Merits of Various Types of Highway-Railway Grade Crossing Protection," American Railway Engineering Association Bulletin, Volume 70, Number 616, November 1968.
- Michael, H. L., "Factors Influencing Safety at Highway-Railway Grade Crossings--A Summary of Recent Research," American Railway Engineering Association Bulletin, Volum3 69, Number 614, June 1968.
- Mosteller, Fredrick, "Remarks on the Method of Paired Comparisons--The Least Squares Solution Assuming Equal Standard Deviations and Equal Correlations," <u>Psychometrika</u>, Volum3 16, Number 1, March 1951.
- Mosteller, Fredrick, "Remarks on the Method of Paired Comparisons--The Effect of an Aberrant Standard Deviation When Equal Standard Deviations and Equal Correlations are Assumed," <u>Psychometrika</u>, Volume 16, Number 2, June 1951.
- Myers, E. T., "Electronics Regulates Grade Crossings," Modern Railroads, Volume 18, Number 2, February 1963.
- Oppenheim, Abraham Naftali, Questionnaire Design and Attitude Measurement, Basic Books, New York, 1966.
- Payne, S. L., The Art of Asking Questions, Princeton University Press, Princeton, New Jersey, 1957.

- Remmers, Herman Henry, Introduction to Opinion and Attitude Measurement, Harper, New York, 1954.
- Richards, Hoy A. and G. Sadler Bridges, "Railroad Grade Crossings," <u>Traffic Control and Roadway Elements--Their Relationship to</u> <u>Highway Safety/Revised</u>, Chapter 1, Texas Transportation Institute, 1968.
- Richards, H. A., N. J. Rowan, and E. W. Kanak, "The Diagnostic Team Approach to Rail-Highway Grade Crossing Safety Evaluation," <u>HRB</u>, Record #272, 1969.
- Schoppert, D. W., "A Program Definition Study for Rail-Highway Grade Crossing Improvement," <u>Federal Railroad Administration Report</u> FRA-RP-70-2, October 1969.
- Shaw, Marvin E. and Jack M. Wright, <u>Scales for the Measurement of</u> Attitudes, McGraw-Hill, New York, 1967.
- Slonim, Morris James, <u>Sampling in a Nutshell</u>, Simon and Schuster, New York, 1960.
- Thurstone, Louis Leon, The Measurement of Attitude, The University of Chicago Press, Chicago, Illinois, 1929.
- Thurstone, Louis Leon, The Measurement of Values, The University of Chicago Press, Chicago, Illinois, 1929.
- Torgenson, W. S., Theory and Methods of Scaling, John Wiley and Sons, Inc., New York, 1967.
- Walbright, H. W., "Merits and Economics of Marking and Signing Grade Crossings," <u>American Railway Association Bulletin</u>, Number 623, November 1969.
- Winfrey, Robley, Economic Analysis for Highways, International Textbook Company, Scranton, Pennsylvania, 1969.

APPENDICES

.

.
APPENDIX A. QUESTIONNAIRE

•

APPENDIX B, PSYCHOLOGICAL SCALING METHODS

,

.

#### APPENDIX B. PSYCHOLOGICAL SCALING METHODS

Psychological scaling methods are procedures for constructing scales for the measurement of psychological attributes. Scaling methods can be used for the measurement of psychological attributes of stimuli which have no measurable physical value.

### The Method of Paired Comparisons

The method of paired comparisons is based on Thurstone's (25) Law of Comparative Judgement. The Law of Comparative Judgement relates the proportion of times any stimulus j is judged greater than any other stimulus k to the scale values and discriminal dispersions of the two stimuli. The relationships developed in the Law of Comparative Judgement are based on the following postulates:

 Each stimulus when presented to an observer results in a discriminal process which has some value on the psychological continuum of interest.

2. As the result of momentary fluctuations in the respondent, a given stimulus does not always excite the same discriminal process, but may excite one with a higher or lower value. Each stimulus thus has associated with it a normal distribution of discriminal processes.

3. The mean and standard deviation of the distribution associated with a stimulus are taken as its scale value and discriminal dispersion respectively.

Figure B2 shows the theoretical distributions for two stimuli j and k. Let  $S_j$  and  $S_k$  correspond to the scale values of two stimuli and  $\sigma_i$  and  $\sigma_k$  to their discriminal dispersions.



FIGURE B1. THEORETICAL DISTRIBUTIONS FOR TWO STIMULI j AND k

For each pair of stimuli presented to a respondent, the result is two discriminal processes:  $d_j$  and  $d_k$ . For the given pair, the difference in discriminal processes  $(d_k - d_j)$  is called a discriminal difference. Given a large number of observations, the distribution of differences would themselves be normally distributed on the psychological continuum. Furthermore, the mean of this distribution is the difference in scale values since the difference between means is equal to the mean of differences. Similarly, the standard deviation of the differences can be shown to be

$$\sigma_{d_k} - d_j = (\sigma_{j^2} + \sigma_{k^2} - 2r_{jk}\sigma_j\sigma_k)^{\frac{1}{2}}$$
(B1)

where r is the correlation between discriminal processes.

Figure B2 illustrates the distribution of discriminal differences.



FIGURE B2. THE DISTRIBUTION OF DISCRIMINAL DIFFERENCES

The shaded portion indicates the portion of times  $(d_k - d_j)$  is positive or the proportion of times stimulus k is judged greater than stimulus j. On the other hand, the unshaded portion to the left of zero indicates the portion of times  $(d_k - d_j)$  is negative. The mean of the distribution is equal to the difference in scale values  $(s_k - s_j)$ . Thus, from the theoretical proportion of times stimulus k is judged greater than stimulus j one can determine the difference  $(s_k - s_j)$  from a table of values of the standard normal distribution. The difference is called  $X_{jk}$  and is measured in  $\sigma_{d_k} - d_j$  units. Therefore, we can write the equation:

$$S_{k} - S_{j} = X_{jk}\sigma_{d_{j}} - d_{k}$$
(B2)

Combining equations (B1) and (B2) we get the complete form of the law of comparative judgement:

$$S_{k} - S_{j} = X_{jk} (\sigma_{j^{2}} + \sigma_{k^{2}} - 2r_{jk}\sigma_{j}\sigma_{k})^{\frac{1}{2}}$$
(B3)

Unfortunately, there is no solution in this form because there are always more variables than equations regardless of the number of stimuli. Thurstone (25) illustrated a number of simplifying assumptions that can be made. We will only be concerned with his Case V. Case V makes the assumption that the dispersions are equal ( $\sigma_j = \sigma_k$ =  $\sigma$ ) and also assumes zero correlation. With the above two assumptions, equation (B3) reduces to:

$$S_{k} - S_{j} = cX_{jk}$$
(B4)

Separate equations can then be written for each of the n stimuli.

It has been shown by Mosteller (21) that there is a least squares solution to the n resulting equations. Then using the observed  $P'_{jk}$  data, one can calculate an  $X'_{jk}$  as an estimate of  $X_{jk}$ . The solution to the set of equations can be shown to yield

$$S_{k}^{\prime} = \frac{1}{n} \sum_{j=1}^{n} X_{jk}^{\prime}$$
 (k = 1,2,...,n) (B5)

Thus, a least squares estimate of the scale values can be obtained simply by averaging the columns of X' matrix.

It should be noted that all cells in the X' matrix must be filled. Also, if any observed proportions  $P'_{jk}$  are 0.00, or 1.00, the transformation to X'\_{jk} cannot be made.

### Rating Scale Technique

There are numerous variations of the rating scale technique. Variations include the number of scale divisions or categories used, the number of descriptors used, and the method of evaluation. Generally, it is recommended that between five and ten divisions be used, depending upon the particular application. Seven divisions were used in this study. Some prefer to use descriptors to indicate the relative positions on the scale while others use numbers. In this study, seven numbers were used with the pertinent descriptors at each end of the scale. The use of numbers implies equal intervals more easily than does the use of descriptive categories.

Complicated analysis using the law of categorical judgement can be used in the analysis. The use of numbered scales implying equal intervals, however, allows simple analysis using mean values. A check of the distribution of responses should be made to see that the distribution is not bimodal, or even multimodal. This problem did not exist with this research data.

As a check on the results using a simple mean technique an analysis was also made using a technique based on the law of categorical judgement. The results were identical and therefore the simpler mean technique was the preferred method of analysis.

### Calculations

For each paired comparison question with n stimuli, n(n-1)/2pairs of stimuli were presented to the respondent. From the actual responses, a  $P'_{ij}$  matrix is constructed for each question where the ith column and jth row represent the proportion of times the ith stimulus is preferred over the jth stimulus. Since  $P'_{ij} + P'_{ji} = 1$ ,  $P'_{ji}$  is calculated by simple subtraction. Tables B1, B2, B3, and B4 are the  $P'_{ij}$  matrix for the hazard evaluation, method of warning, message preference---train present, and message preference--no train, respectively.

From the P<sup>†</sup> matrix, the X<sup>†</sup> matrix is calculated using a table of normal deviates, as shown in Tables B5, B6, B7, and B8. Summing and

averaging the columns results in a least squares solution of the scale values. Since no inherent zero point exists, the lowest value is subtracted from all values, resulting in a scale with zero as the lowest value. Using the average scale values calculated, it is possible to recalculate the proportions necessary to produce the average scale values. The calculated proportion matrices shown in Tables B9, B10, B11, and B12 are used to determine the adequacy of the model. If the model is a good fit, a high linear correlation will exist between the  $P'_{ij}$  (observed) and  $P''_{ij}$  (calculated) matrix.

 $\mathcal{C}_{A} =$ 

	TAB	LE Bl.	OBSERVED PROL	PORTIONS (P	') FOR THE ij	SIX HIGHWA	Y HAZARDS
		I	Hazard in colu	umn i judge i	d greater t	han row j	
		1	2	3 .	4	5	6
	1	.5000	.6667	.6770	.6357	.4457	.6977
	2	.3333	.5000	.6094	.6085	.3953	.6279
	3	.3230	.3906	.5000	.4690	.2558	.4341
	4	.3643	.3915	.5310	.5000	.3217	.5969
	5	.5543	.6047	.7442	.6783	.5000	.6512
	6	.3023	.3721	.5659	.4031	.3488	.5000

## llazards

1.	Signal Ahead
2.	Stop Ahead
3.	Railroad Crossing
4.	Yield Ahead
5.	Curve

6. Crossroad

		` 1j´						
		System i	n column i ju	udged greater	than row j			
		1	<u>-2</u>	3	4	5		
	1	.5000	.1667	.2239	.2857	.1274		
. <del>.</del> .	2	.8333	.5000	.5039	.6641	.3050		
j	3	.7761	.4961	.5000	.6564	.2597		
	4	.7143	.3359	•3436	.5000	.1124		
	5	.8726	.6950	.7403	.8876	.5000		

TABLE B2. OBSERVED PROPORTIONS (P'\_\_\_) FOR WARNING SYSTEMS

### Warning System

1.	Changeable message sign
2.	In-car visual message
3.	In-car audio message
4.	Standard flashing lights
5.	Passive warning sign

144

TABLE B3.	OBSERVED PROPORTIONS	(P'j)	) FOR DISPLAYS FOR ADVANCE WARN	ING
SYSTEM	WHEN A HAZARD EXISTS	AT A	HIGHWAY-RAILWAY GRADE CROSSING	

	Display	r in column	i judged great	er than row j	
· 1	<u>1</u> .5000	<u>2</u> .6938	<u>3</u> - .8764	<u>4</u> . .8842	<u>5</u> .6240
2	• 3062	. 5000	.8996	.8533	.3127
j 3	.1236	.1004	.5000	.4015	.1351
I	.1158	.1467	.5985	.5000	.1236
	.3760	.6373	.8649	.8764	.5000

# Display

1.	RR Xing/STOP AHEAD
2.	FR TRACKS BLOCKED
3.	TRACKS BLOCKED/STOP AHEAD
4.	CROSSING BLOCKED/STOP AHEAD
5.	RAILROAD CROSSING/TRACKS BLOCKED

.

TABLE B4. OBSERVED PROPORTIONS  $(P'_{ij})$  FOR DISPLAYS FOR ADVANCE WARNING SYSTEM WHEN NO HAZARD EXISTS AT A HIGHWAY-RAILWAY GRADE CROSSING

		Display	in column i	judged greater	than row j	
		<u>1</u>	-2	3	4	5
	1	.5000	.5681	.1429	.0734	.1313
	2	.4319	.5000	.1158	.1047	.1390
ţ	3	.8571	.8842	.5000	.1206	.4070
	4	.9266	.8953	.8794	.5000	.9031
	5	.8687	.8610	.5930	.0969	.5000

Display

1.	$\bigotimes$	TRACKS CLEAR
2.	$\bigotimes$	CROSSING CLEAR

3. RAILROAD CROSSING/TRACKS CLEAR

4. (blank sign)

5. (no message)

		TABLE B5.	SCALE CA	LCULATIONS	FOR THE SIX	HIGHWAY	HAZARDS
Normal Deviate MatrixScale separations between pairs							
		1	2	3	4	5	<u>6</u>
	1	0.0000	.4307	.4594	.3469	1364	.5177
	2	4307	0.0000	.2777	.2755	2654	.3263
4	3	4594	2777	0.0000	0778	6563	1659
J	4	3469	2755	.0778	0.0000	4629	.2453
	5	.1364	.2654	.6563	.4629	0.0000	.3885
	6	5177	3263	.1659	2453	3885	0.0000
				Column	Mean		
		2697	0306	.2729	.1270	3183	.2187
		5	Scale with	Zero Assun	med = Lowest	Value	
		.0485	.2877	.5911	.4453	0.0000	.5369
Hazards							
1. Signal Ahead							
2. Stop Ahead							
				3. Railro	oad Crossing		
				4. Yield	Ahead		
5. Curve							

6. Crossroad

		TABI	LE B6. SCALE	CALCULATI	ONS FO	R WARNING SYS	TEMS	
		Normal	Deviate Matr	ixScale	separa i	tions between	pairs	
		<u>1</u>	2		3	4	5-	
	1	0.0000	9674	7	590	5659	-1.1387	
1	2	.9674	0.000	.0	099	.4237	5100	
j	3	.7590	0099	0.0	000	.4026	6443	
ł	4	.5659	4237	4	026	0.0000	-1.2138	
	5	1.1387	.5100	.6	443	1.2138	0.0000	
				Column	Mean			
		.6862	1782	1	015	.2948	7014	
			Scale with	Zero Assum	ed = L	owest Value		
		1.3876	.5232	.5	999	.9962	0.0000	
Warning System								
			1. C	hangeable	messag	e sign		
	2. In-car visual message							
			3. In	n-car audi	o mess	age		
			4. S	tandard fl	ashing	lights		
	5. Passive warning sign							

1	TABLE	B7. SCA WHEN A H	LE CALCULATIONS AZARD EXISTS AT	FOR DISPLAYS A HIGHWAY-RAT	FOR ADVANCE N ILWAY GRADE CI	VARNING SYSTE ROSSING			
	Normal Deviate MatrixScale separations between pairs								
		<u>1</u>	2	3	<u>4</u>	5			
	1	0.0000	.5066	1.1574	1.1961	.3161			
1	2	5066	0.0000	1.2794	1.0506	4881			
j	3	-1.1574	-1.2794	0.0000	2493	-1.1024			
i	4	-1.1961	-1.0506	.2493	0.0000	-1.1574			
	5	3161	.4881	1.1024	1.1574	0.0000			
			(	Column Mean					
<b></b> 6352 <b></b> 2670 <b>.</b> 7577 <b>.</b> 6310				4864					
			Scale with Zero	o Assumed = Lo	owest Value				
		0.0000	.3682	1.3930	1.2662	.1489			
				Display					
			1. RR Xing/	STOP AHEAD					
			2. 🚫 TR.	ACKS BLOCKED					
	3. TRACKS BLOCKED/STOP AHEAD								
			4. 🕅 CR	OSSING BLOCKE	D/STOP AHEAD				
			5. RAILROAD	CROSSING/TRAC	CKS BLOCKED				

	WHEN NO HAZARD EXISIS AI A HIGHWAY-RAILWAY GRADE CRUSSING									
	Normal Deviate MatrixScale separations between pairs									
		1	2	3	4	<u>5</u>				
	1	0.000	.1715	-1.0676	-1.4512	-1.1204				
1	2	1715	0.0000	-1.1961	-1.2555	-1.0848				
3	3	1.0676	1.1961	0.0000	-1.1719	2353				
	۷.	1.4512	1.2555	1.1719	0.000	1.2994				
Ŧ	5	1.1204	1.0848	.2353	<b>-1.2</b> 994	0.0000				
	Column Mean									
		.6935	.7416	1713	-1.0356	2282				
			Scale with Zero	Assumed = L	owest Value					
		1.7291	1.7772	.8643	0.0000	.8074				
				Display	·					
			1.	TRACKS CLE	AR					
2.				CROSSING C	CROSSING CLEAR					
			3. RAIL	ROAD CROSSIN	G/TRACKS CLEAI	R				
			4. (bla	unk sign)						
			5.	(no messag	e)					

# TABLE B8. SCALE CALCULATIONS FOR DISPLAYS FOR ADVANCE WARNING SYSTEM WHEN NO HAZARD EXISTS AT A HIGHWAY-RAILWAY GRADE CROSSING

	TAB	BLE B9.	CALCULATED P	ROPORTIONS	(P") FOR TH	LE SIX HIGHW	VAY HAZARDS	
			Hazard in co	olumn i judged greater than row j				
		1	2	3	4	5	6	
	1	0.0000	.5945	.7063	.6542	.4806	.6874	
Ľ	2	.4055	0.0000	.6192	.5626	.3868	.5984	
	3	.2937	.3808	0.0000	.4420	.2772	.4784	
	4	.3458	.4374	.5580	0.0000	.3281	.5365	
	5	.5194	.6132	.7228	.6719	0.0000	.7043	
	6	.3126	.4016	.5216	.4635	.2957	0.0000	

### Hazards

1		S	i	gn	a1	2	T	le	а	d	
---	--	---	---	----	----	---	---	----	---	---	--

- 2. Stop Ahead
- 3. Railroad Crossing
- 4. Yield Ahead
- 5. Curve
- 6. Crossroad

		TABLE B10.	CALCULATED PRO	PORTIONS (P"	) FOR WARNING	SYSTEMS
		Sys	tem in <b>col</b> umn i	judged great	er than row j	
		1	2	3	<u>∠</u> ‡	5
	1	0.0000	.1937	.2154	.3478	.0826
	2	.8063	0.0000	.5306	.6819	.3004
j	3	.7846	.4594	0.0000	.6541	.2743
	4	.6522	.3181	. 3459	0.0000	<b>.1</b> 596
	5	.9174	.6996	.7257	.8404	0.0000

# Warning Systems

1.	Changeable message sign
2.	In-car visual message
3.	In-car audio message
4.	Standard flashing lights
5.	Passive warning sign

.

# TABLE B11.CALCULATED PROPORTIONS (P"ij) FOR DISPLAYS FOR ADVANCEWARNING SYSTEM WHEN A HAZARD EXISTS AT A<br/>HIGHWAY-RAILWAY GRADE CROSSING

		Displ	lay in column i	judged gre	ater than row ;	j
		1	2	3	4	5
	1	0.0000	.6436	.9182	.8973	.5592
	2	.3564	0.0000	.8473	.81.54	.4132
j	3	.0818	.1527	0.0000	•4496	.1067
	4	.1027	.1846	.5504	0.0000	.1319
	5	.4408	.5868	.8933	.8681	0.0000

### Display

1.	RR Xing/STOP AHEAD
2.	TRACKS BLOCKED
3.	R TRACKS BLOCKED/STOP AHIAD
4.	CROSSING BLOCKED/STOP AHEAD
5.	RAILROAD CROSSING/TRACKS BLOCKED

# TABLE B12. CALCULATED PROPORTIONS (P") FOR DISPLAYS FOR ADVANCE WARNING SYSTEMS WHEN NO HAZARD EXISTS AT A HIGHWAY-RAILWAY GRADE CROSSING

0000*0	10071	1776		(770 *	6
0000 0	2606	2005	6228	2128	5
£06Z*	0000.0	£908°	• 6622	T856°	+7
<u>۶//</u> ۶	/£6T*	0000*0	£6T8*	±908 ■	5 5
0227		0000 0	0010	,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,	
1991'	8260.	7081 <b>.</b>	0000.0	8087*	2
EST.	6170*	9E6T*	2612.	0000*0	Ţ
S	17	3	5	τ	
		1			
	с мол пьйт тээг	i ludged grea	umitos ut yes	qai(	

### Velqeid



- 3. RAILROAD CROSSING/TRACKS CLEAR
- (ngie Aneld) .4
- (agessam on) () .č

T23

т.

\*

. .

.